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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED  INCOME 
STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

       

Revenue 584,541 317,353 134,155 165,942 198,478
Cost of sales (527,047) (293,507) (137,966) (126,748) (124,621)
Gross profit/(loss) 57,494 23,846 (3,811) 39,194 73,857
(Loss)/Profit before income tax  

(12,763) (8,665) (8,773) 24,080 52,593
(Loss)/Profit for the year 

attributable to owners of the 
Company (12,753) (10,091) (8,937) 21,182 43,821

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December
12 31

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

       

Total assets 492,840 492,175 354,943 380,215 300,020
Total liabilities (189,162) (176,291) (29,045) (45,509) (77,069)
Total equity 303,678 315,884 325,898 334,706 222,951

The summary above does not form part of the audited 
consolidated financial statements.

 

 



Chairman’s Statement

5應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the 
“Directors”) of Star Shine Holdings Group Limited (the 
“Company”), I am pleased to present to you the annual report of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) (and 
each being “we”, “us” or “our Group” for the purposes of this 
annual report as appropriate) for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year ended 31 December
12 31
2024 2023

(Audited) (Audited)
2024 2023

    

Revenue (RMB’000) 584,541 317,353
Gross profit (RMB’000) 57,494 23,846
Loss before income tax (RMB’000) (12,763) (8,665)
Loss for the year attributable to owners  

of the Company (RMB’000)
 

(12,753) (10,091)
Loss per share

– Basic and diluted (RMB cents) (1.01) (0.80)

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a long-established lace manufacturer and dyeing service 
provider. We are primarily engaged in manufacturing and sales 
of lace to our customers to produce branded lingerie products on 
order-by-order basis. For our dyeing services, our customers are 
mainly lace and swimwear manufacturers who would provide us 
with their own lace and swimwear fabrics to dye before further 
fabrication. We are also engaged in footwear business, including 
design, research and development, sourcing, merchandising, 
quality control and sales of shoes. Revenue from footwear business 
segment increased significantly during the Reporting Period, which 
accounted for approximately 86.4% of the total revenue of the 
Group (2023: approximately 76.7%).

Star Shine Holdings Group Limited 

 

2024 12 31

86.4%
2023 76.7%
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584.5
2023 12 31 2023

317.4 84.2%
2023 23.8

57.5
12.8 2023

10.1 26.4%

2024 ––  
2024–2025

* 

During the Reporting Period, the market economy remained 
uncertain such as sustained high-interest scenario, geopolitical 
tensions, weakening consumer confidence and increasing 
international trade barrier. China’s economy has progressively 
stabilized and demonstrated signs of enhancement, yet the 
recovery is not as vigorous as anticipated. The Group’s lace 
manufacturing and dyeing business inevitably experienced a 
certain degree of impact from the market conditions. However, 
the Group’s footwear business benefited from higher volume of 
orders placed by an international customer, offsetting the trough 
of the lace manufacturing business.

We recorded revenue of approximately RMB584.5 million for 
the Reporting Period, representing an increase of approximately 
84.2% from approximately RMB317.4 million for the year ended 
31 December 2023 (“FY2023”). The Group’s gross profit has 
been improved significantly from RMB23.8 million in the FY2023 
to RMB57.5 million in the Reporting Period. Net loss attributable 
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB12.8 million was 
recorded for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of 
approximately 26.4% from approximately RMB10.1 million for the 
FY2023.

OUTLOOK AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

In the medium to long term, heightened environmental awareness 
and the steadfast pursuit of dual-carbon objectives are expected to 
drive increasingly stringent regulatory measures. The 2024 
introduction of key policies – including the Action Plan for Energy 
Conservation and Carbon Reduction (2024-25)*, Guidelines to 
Comprehensively Promote the Development of a “Beautiful 
China”*, and the Comprehensive Implementation Plan for the 
Pollutant Discharge Permit System* – has significantly elevated 
environmental compliance requirements across industries.

Facing these evolving regulatory pressures, the Group recognizes 
the challenges confronting its lace manufacturing and dyeing 
operations. To mitigate risks while maintaining operational 
viability, the Group is evaluating solutions that achieve both 
environmental compliance and cost efficiency. Concurrently, 
given the strong growth trajectory of the footwear segment, the 
Group has initiated a strategic reallocation of resources, gradually 
reducing further resources in lace manufacturing and dyeing 
operations. This rebalancing aligns with market demand trends 
and strengthens the Group’s competitive position, with anticipated 
benefits to earnings quality and overall financial performance.

* For identification purpose only
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主席報告

IP

IP

The imposition of additional United States (“U.S.”) tariffs on 
Chinese imports has prompted the Group to implement proactive 
trade strategy adjustments. While anticipating some order attrition 
in the coming year, the Group is engaged in active negotiations 
with customers and suppliers to develop mutually beneficial 
solutions. To reduce geographic concentration risk, the Group is 
establishing manufacturing partnerships in Southeast Asia, which 
remains unaffected by the new tariff regime.

Complementing these efforts, the Group is expanding into 
domestic consumption channels through intellectual property 
(“IP”)-driven merchandising. Advanced discussions are underway 
with several prominent IP holders to establish long-term 
collaborations that will enhance product differentiation and brand 
equity. Recognizing fundamental shifts in global trade patterns, 
the Group is strengthening its digital distribution capabilities to 
better position itself within the evolving commercial landscape.
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2025 7
K11 MUSEA CR7® LIFE

CR7® LIFE

2025 3 28

As previously disclosed, the Group will host the CR7® LIFE 
Museum Hong Kong at K11 MUSEA commencing July 2025. The 
preparatory work is currently progressing as planned, and ticket 
presales are currently available through major platforms. The 
Group firmly believes that the CR7® LIFE Museum Hong Kong 
will establish itself as a world-class sporting and cultural landmark 
event, making significant contributions to the development of 
Hong Kong’s sports tourism and cultural sectors. Citizens and 
visitors are cordially invited to actively participate in and witness 
this historic occasion together.

Going forward, the Group will maintain disciplined capital 
allocation while identifying value accretive growth opportunities. 
Operational priorities include continuous improvement of 
production efficiency, rigorous cost management, full compliance 
with environmental regulations, and enhancement of research and 
development capabilities alongside quality control systems. These 
initiatives collectively support the Group’s objectives of sustainable 
value creation for its shareholders and long-term competitiveness.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our colleagues for 
their diligence, dedication, loyalty and integrity. I would also like to 
thank all our shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and other 
business associates for their trust and support.

By order of the Board
Star Shine Holdings Group Limited
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from (i) dyeing services; (ii) 
manufacturing and sales of lace; and (iii) footwear business. The 
revenue from footwear business maintains a significant growth in 
the Reporting Period.

Revenue by product types

Breakdown of the Group’s revenue by product types is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023

RMB’000
% of 

revenue RMB’000
% of 

revenue
2024 2023

% %      

Dyeing 64,932 11.1 53,287 16.8    

Lace
– High density 10,210 1.8 15,968 5.0
– Regular density 4,211 0.7 4,722 1.5    

Sub-total 14,421 2.5 20,690 6.5    

Footwear 505,188 86.4 243,376 76.7    

Total 584,541 100.0 317,353 100.0    

Revenue by operating geographical regions

Breakdown of the Group’s revenue by operating geographical 
location is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023

RMB’000
% of 

revenue RMB’000
% of 

revenue
2024 2023

% %      

Mainland China and Hong Kong 584,541 100.0 317,353 100.0    

(i) (i i)
(iii)
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2023
53.3 21.9%

64.9

(i)
(ii)

2023 20.7
30.3% 14.4

505.2 2023 243.4
107.6%

57.5
2023 23.8 141.1%

2023 4.4
59.2% 1.8

2023
2.5 14.7% 2.1

Dyeing

As mentioned earlier, the pace of market recovery has not met 
expectation. Although there has been an increase in customer 
orders during the Reporting Period, the demand of orders have 
still not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels. The Group’s dyeing 
revenue increased by approximately 21.9% from approximately 
RMB53.3 million for the FY2023 to approximately RMB64.9 million 
for the Reporting Period, primarily attributable to the increase in 
orders from customers.

Lace

The Group’s lace products are classified into (i) regular density 
lace and (ii) high density lace. The lace revenue decreased by 
approximately 30.3% from approximately RMB20.7 million for the 
FY2023 to approximately RMB14.4 million for the Reporting Period 
for the reasons of intensive competition resulting in decrease of 
orders from customers.

Footwear

The Group recorded revenue from footwear business of 
approximately RMB505.2 million for the Reporting Period, 
representing an increase of approximately 107.6% from 
approximately RMB243.4 million for the FY2023.

Gross profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB57.5 
million for the Reporting Period representing an increase of 
approximately 141.1% from approximately RMB23.8 million for 
the FY2023, primary attributable to the considerable growth in 
footwear business.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately 59.2% from 
approximately RMB4.4 million for the FY2023 to approximately 
RMB1.8 million for the Reporting Period, primarily attributable to 
the decrease in the government grants.

Other gains, net

Other gains, net for the Reporting Period of approximately RMB2.1 
million decreased by approximately 14.7% from approximately 
RMB2.5 million for the FY2023 mainly represented exchange 
differences arising from translation of the Group’s sales, assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency other than the 
functional currency of respective entities.
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管理層討論及分析

2023 16.2 1.1
34.2

2023
17.8 1.2 39.5

 

1.6 2023 7.4

2023 2.0
0.2

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of packaging 
expenses, commission and staff cost in relation to sales and 
marketing staff. Selling and distribution expenses increased of 
approximately 1.1 times from approximately RMB16.2 million for 
the FY2023 to approximately RMB34.2 million for the Reporting 
Period, mainly contributed by the increase in commission expenses 
which was in line with the increase in revenue from footwear 
business.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly consist of employment benefit 
expenses, professional fee, util it ies, and office expenses. 
Administrative expenses increased of approximately 1.2 times from 
approximately RMB17.8 million for the FY2023 to approximately 
RMB39.5 million for the Reporting Period mainly due to the 
increase in staff costs due to the increased average headcounts.

Impairment loss on property, plant and 
equipment

The Group recorded an impairment loss on property, plant and 
equipment of approximately RMB1.6 million (2023: RMB7.4 
million) for the Reporting Period mainly due to the impairment 
assessment result triggered by the business performance of the 
lace and dyeing business falling below management’s expectation.

Finance income, net

Net finance income decreased from approximately RMB2.0 million 
for the FY2023 to approximately RMB0.2 million for the Reporting 
Period, primarily attributable to the increase in interest expenses 
on interest-bearing borrowing.
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2023 15%

8.25% 16.5%
10,000 2023

1.4

12.8 2023
10.1

2023

 

2024 12 31
158.3 2023 191.4

2023 12 31
2.1 2024 12 31 1.9 2024

12 31
(i) (ii)

(iii)

Income tax expenses

Fujian Deyun Technology Co., Ltd.* ( ) (the 
“Deyun Technology”), which engaged in dyeing and lace 
business of the Group, is recognised as a High and New 
Technology Enterprise* ( ) and therefore entitled to a 
preferential tax rate of 15% for the FY2023 and for the Reporting 
Period. During the Reporting Period, Hong Kong profits tax has 
been provided at the rate of 8.25% to 16.5% on the estimated 
assessable profits. The income tax credit of the Group for the 
Reporting Period was approximately RMB10,000, as compared to 
the income tax expenses of approximately RMB1.4 million for the 
FY2023, mainly due to the loss-making position in the PRC and 
over-provision in Hong Kong profits tax.

Net loss for the year

As a result of the above factors, the Group recorded a net loss 
of approximately RMB12.8 million for the Reporting Period as 
compared to the net loss of approximately RMB10.1 million for the 
FY2023.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the 
Reporting Period (2023: nil).

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND 
GEARING

Net current assets

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB158.3 
million at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB191.4 million). The 
current ratio of the Group decreased from approximately 2.1 times 
at 31 December 2023 to approximately 1.9 times at 31 December 
2024. The decrease in net current assets and current ratio at 31 
December 2024 was primarily attributable to the overall impact 
on (i) the decrease of cash and cash equivalents, (ii) the decrease 
in interest-bearing borrowing and (iii) the increase in loan from 
ultimate holding company.

* For identification purpose only * 
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

 

2024 12 31
231.9 (2023 269.0

2024 12 31
52.3 2023 36.9

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31

2024 12 31 0.2
2023 0.1

2024 12 31
12,600,000
1,260,000,000 0.01

1.7
2023 1.5

Cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and 
pledge of assets

The Group funds its business and working capital requirements 
by using a balanced mix of internal resources, borrowings and 
funds from listing. The Group will adjust its mix of funding mix 
depending on the costs of funding and its actual needs.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents 
of approximately RMB231.9 million (2023: RMB269.0 million) and 
they were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), United States Dollar 
(“USD”) and Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”).

At  31 December 2024,  the Group had bor rowings o f 
approximately RMB52.3 million (2023: RMB36.9 million).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no undrawn 
banking facilities.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any 
assets pledged as securities.

Gearing ratio

At 31 December 2024, the Group had a gearing ratio of 0.2 (2023: 
0.1), calculated by dividing total debt (including borrowings and 
lease liabilities) by total equity.

Capital structure

At 31 December 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was 
HKD12,600,000 and the number of issued shares of the Company 
was 1,260,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each.

Capital expenditure

For the Reporting Period, the Group incurred cash flows on capital 
expenditures for the purchase of properties, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets in the amount of approximately RMB1.7 
million (2023: RMB1.5 million).
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2024 12 31

32.4 2023
0.1 2023 0.2

2024 2023 12 31

2024 12 31 512 2023
527

54.0
2023 36.4

Foreign exchange risks and hedging

The majority of assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated 
in RMB, USD and HKD, and there are no significant assets and 
liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject 
to foreign exchange rate risk arising from future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities which are 
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional 
currencies of the Group’s entities. During the Reporting Period, 
the Group did not hedge its foreign currency exposure. The Group 
regularly monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need 
arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments of 
approximately RMB32.4 million (2023: Nil) and RMB0.1 million 
(2023: RMB0.2 million) in relation to the financial support to the 
joint venture and purchase of properties, plant and equipment 
respectively.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any 
material contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s employees are generally remunerated by way of 
fixed salary and they may also be entitled to a number of welfare 
benefits, including but not limited to job-nature based subsidy, 
performance-based bonus, paid leave and share options. The 
Group also make contributions to mandatory social security 
funds for its employees. The Group utilises an appraisal system 
for its employees and considers the appraisal results of individual 
employees when conducting their salary review and determining 
the amount of bonuses. To enhance the performance of the 
employees, the Group provides its employees with adequate and 
regular trainings.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had 512 employees (2023: 
527 employees) and the Group’s total employee benefit expenses 
(including Directors’ emoluments) for the Reporting Period 
amounted to approximately RMB54.0 million (2023: RMB36.4 
million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

(i)

(i i) 2024 12 31

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC 
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit 
scheme operated by the PRC government (the “Retirement 
Benefit Scheme”). The Group is required to contribute a certain 
percentage of basic payroll costs to the Retirement Benefit 
Scheme.

The Group joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is 
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority 
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The 
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the 
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. 
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are 
each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates 
specified in the rules.

The Group’s contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme and 
the MPF Scheme (the “Defined Contribution Schemes”) vest 
fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for the 
Reporting Period, there was no forfeiture of contributions under 
the Defined Contribution Scheme; and (ii) there were no forfeited 
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing level 
of contributions to the Defined Contribution Scheme at 31 
December 2024. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as 
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Defined 
Contribution Scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL 
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 25 October 2024, Asia Partners IFBD Limited (“Asia Partners”) 
and Star Power Development Limited (“Star Power”) entered into 
a subscription agreement, pursuant to which Asia Partners agreed 
to subscribe for and Star Power agreed to issue and allot 100 
ordinary shares of Star Power (the “Subscription agreement”), 
representing 50% of the enlarged issued shares of Star Power at 
a subscription price of HK$100. At 31 December 2024, the equity 
interest in Star Power is owned as to 50% by Circle Time Limited, 
a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and as to 
50% by Asia Partners. Star Power is recognised as a joint venture 
of the Group.

The Group shall provide not more than HKD70.0 million (equivalent 
to approximately RMB64.8 million) shareholder loans to Star 
Power for the setup and operation of the CR7® LIFE Museum 
Hong Kong. At 31 December 2024, the Group has provided a 
shareholder loan of HKD35.0 million (equivalent to approximately 
RMB32.4 mil l ion) to Star Power in accordance with the 
subscription agreement and actual needs. Since the event is still at 
the beginning stage, Star Power has not yet met the conditions for 
repayment of the shareholder loan.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the 
Company dated 2 October 2024, 28 October 2024 and 6 
November 2024.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant 
investments, material acquisitions and disposals during the 
Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MAJOR INVESTMENT

The Group had no specific plan for major investment or acquisition 
for major capital assets or other businesses at the date of this 
annual report. However, the Group will continue to identify new 
opportunities for business development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC 
OFFERING

Net proceeds from the initial public offering (the “IPO”), after 
deducting underwriting commissions and other relevant expenses, 
amounted to approximately HKD85.6 million. As disclosed in 
the Company’s announcement dated 28 August 2024, having 
carefully considered the latest business environment and 
development needs of the Group, the Board had resolved to 
change the proposed use of part of the unutilized net proceeds of 
approximately HKD16.9 million for repayment of interest-bearing 
borrowing. At 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the IPO 
had been applied as follows:

Planned use of net proceeds

Planned 
use of 

net proceeds

Unused net 
proceeds at 

1 January 
2024

Re-allocation of 
the Unutilized 

Net Proceeds 
at 28 August 

2024

Net proceeds 
used for the 

Reporting 
Period

Net proceeds 
used at 

31 December 
2024

2024
1 1

2024
8 28 2024

12 31

HKD million HKD million HKD million HKD million HKD million

       

Expand dyeing service capacity and enhance efficiency by 
way of upgrading, replacing and acquiring machineries 
and facilities

49.9 11.2 – – 38.7

Strengthen research and development capability and 
quality control for dyeing services

3.4 – – – 3.4

Replace a coal-burning-boiler by a natural-gas-boiler 13.6 5.7 – – 7.9
Expand integrated enterprise planning resource system 0.9 – – – 0.9
Repayment of bank loan and interest-bearing borrowing 9.5 – 16.9 16.9 26.4
General working capital 8. 3 – – – 8. 3     

85.6 16.9 16.9 16.9 85.6
     

All the proceeds from the IPO have been fully utilised at 31 
December 2024.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group does not have any important events after the Reporting 
Period and up to the date of this annual report.

85.6
2024 8 28

16.9
2024 12 31

2024 12 31
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing ( ) (“Mr. Tsoi”), aged 63, is a 
controlling shareholder, an executive Director, and the chairman of 
the Board and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Tsoi was appointed 
as an executive Director of our Company on 30 September 2022. 
He is responsible for the strategic planning and overall budget of 
our Group.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the industry of 
manufacturing and distribution of shoes. He was the director of 
Calson Investment Limited from July 1992 to October 2023, a 
footwear distribution enterprise supplying leather, PVC, textile 
shoes, sandals, etc. to customers worldwide and a director of 
Calson Industrial International Company Limited, a company 
engaged in property development business. Mr. Tsoi is also the 
executive director of Changzhou Qifa Shoes Co., Ltd.* (

), a company engaged in manufacturing and 
distribution of shoes and Changzhou Qichen Investment Co., Ltd.* 
( ), a company engaged in real estate sales 
and property management, and a supervisor of Putian Qiming 
Shoes Co., Ltd.* ( ), a company engaged in 
manufacturing and distribution of shoes.

Since November 2023, he has been the director of Hope Faith 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Tsoi is also a Standing Committee of the Hunan Provincial 
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference (“CPPCC”) Hong Kong Convener, Vice-Chairman of 
the Hong Kong Provincial CPPCC Member Association, School 
Supervisor of TWGHs Tsoi Wing Sing Primary School* (

), Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Volunteers 
Federation* ( ) and Expert of Silk Road 
Planning Research Center* ( ). Mr. Tsoi was 
also a Standing Committee Member of the 5th Fujian Putian 
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Tung Wah Group of 
Hospitals from 2019 to 2020, and the vice chairman of Tung Wah 
Group of Hospitals from 2015 to 2019. Mr. Tsoi was also awarded 
the Bronze Bauhinia Star in recognition of his significant 
contributions and outstanding service over a long period of time in 
Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsoi is the father of Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki, the executive Director of 
the Company.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Tsoi is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.

* For identification purpose only * 
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Mr. Lin Minqiang ( ), aged 69, is an executive Director. He 
is responsible for the management, strategic planning and overall 
budget of the dyeing services and manufacturing and sales of lace 
business.

Mr. Lin Minqiang has over 30 years of experience in the fabrics 
weaving and dyeing business. Mr. Lin Minqiang was the committee 
member of the Party Branch of Longxia Village of Changle District 
in Fuzhou from April 1978 to August 1992. In August 1988, Mr. 
Lin Minqiang took the role of the factory director of “Changle 
Warp Knitted Fabrics Factory”, a collective enterprise established 
in Fujian, which subsequently reformed as a limited liability 
company and changed its name into Fujian Changle Xingsheng 
Warpknitted Fabrics Co., Ltd.* (

) (“Xingsheng”) in October 1996. Mr. Lin Minqiang was the 
executive director and the manager of Xingsheng from October 
1996 to January 2006. After Deyun Technology merged with 
Xingsheng by way of absorption, Mr. Lin Minqiang was appointed 
as a director of Deyun Technology in January 2006. Over the years, 
he has been responsible for planning the company strategy and 
overall budget of Deyun Technology.

Mr. Lin Minqiang was awarded the certificate of completion 
of the course of Business Information Strategy and Knowledge 
Management CEO Advanced Training Class by School of 
Information Science and Technology, Tsinghua University in July 
2005.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Lin Minqiang is not 
connected with any other Directors or members of the senior 
management of our Company.

* For identification purpose only * 
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Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin (“Mr. Torchin”), aged 74, is an 
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Torchin was appointed as 
an executive Director on 30 September 2022. He is responsible for 
the sales and marketing of the footwear business of our Group.

Mr. Torchin has over 50 years of experience in the footwear 
and apparel industry. He entered the industry in 1970 working 
in a footwear chain store in Philadelphia and have since held 
various positions in several companies across Europe, Asia and 
South America. In 1979, Mr. Torchin built his first shoe company, 
an Italian-manufacturing footwear company, Eclisse Footwear 
Company, which was thereafter sold to G.H. Bass & Company.

Mr. Torchin was the founder and a principal of Larry Stuart Ltd., 
a premium brand of women’s footwear, which was acquired by 
Brown Shoe Company in 1995. Mr. Torchin was the President 
of MTI from 1999 to 2003, which sources and designs footwear 
for many branded companies and retailers in the United States of 
America. In 2008, Larry was brought in as a director for Donald J. 
Pliner (DJP) and which he was also involved in its sale to a private 
equity firm.

Mr. Torchin currently holds multiple positions across different 
companies, including being the founder and chief executive 
officer of LT Group Investment, and principal of Calson Investment 
Limited since 2003, the advisor for Eclo Technology, and chief 
executive officer of Traction Design group since 2021.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Torchin is not connected 
with any other Directors or members of the senior management of 
our Company.
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Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki ( ) (“Ms. Tsoi”), aged 31, is an executive 
Director of the Company. Ms. Tsoi was appointed as an executive 
Director of the Company on 31 October 2023 and a member of 
the Nomination Committee on 28 March 2025. She is in charge of 
business development and also responsible for managing product 
design and development, management of supply chain and 
enhancement of the operation procedure and efficiency.

Ms. Tsoi has 9 years of experience in the merchandising industry. 
Ms. Tsoi has worked in Calson Investment Limited from 2016 to 
2021, a footwear distribution enterprise supplying leather, textile 
shoes, sandals, etc. to customers worldwide. Since 2021, she has 
been the director of Hope Faith Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company. Ms. Tsoi is also the legal representative and an 
executive director of Putian Yingchuang Trading Company 
Limited* ( ), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company, a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of 
China with limited liability.

Ms. Tsoi obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration 
from Loyola Marymount University, the United States of America, 
in 2015.

Ms. Tsoi is the daughter of Mr. Tsoi, the chairman of the Board 
and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Ms. Tsoi is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.

* For identification purpose only * 
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Kit Ting ( ) (“Mr. Chow”), aged 40, was 
appointed as our independent non-executive Director, the 
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee on 16 December 2020, and a member 
of the Nomination Committee on 28 March 2025. Mr. Chow 
is primarily responsible for supervising the management of our 
Group independently.

Mr. Chow has over 15 years’ experience in the fields of auditing, 
accounting, corporate finance, compliance and company 
secretarial. He worked for an international accounting firm and 
various private or listed companies as financial controller and 
company secretary. From July 2018 to July 2021, Mr. Chow 
worked as an independent non-executive director at USPACE 
Technology Group Limited (formerly known as Eternity Technology 
Holdings Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock 
Code: 1725.HK). He has been the company secretary of Investech 
Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock 
Exchange (Stock Code: 1087.HK) since January 2023. He has been 
the company secretary of Plus Group Holdings Limited, a company 
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2486. 
HK) since May 2023. He has been the independent non-executive 
director of Confidence Intelligence Holdings Limited, a company 
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1967.
HK) since December 2024.

Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor’s degree of commerce in 
accounting from Macquarie University, Australia, in November 
2007, and an EMBA degree from Chinese University of Hong 
Kong ( ) in November 2021. He was accredited as 
a Certified Public Accountant in CPA Australia and as a member 
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 
September 2011 and May 2015, respectively.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Chow is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.
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Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin ( ) (“Dr. Chiu”), aged 74, 
was appointed as our independent non-executive Director, a 
member of the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and 
the Nomination Committee on 30 September 2022. Dr. Chiu 
is primarily responsible for supervising the management of our 
Group independently.

Dr. Chiu has more than 40 years of international experience in 
real estate in Hong Kong and overseas. Dr. Chiu joined the CK 
Group in 1997 and has been an executive director since February 
2015 and an executive committee member since June 2015 of CK 
Asset Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 1113.HK), heading the real estate sales, marketing 
and property management teams. Dr. Chiu is a director of certain 
companies controlled by certain substantial shareholders of CK 
Asset Holdings Limited within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO. Dr. Chiu is also the chairman of ARA Asset Management 
(Prosperity) Limited as the manager of Prosperity REIT, a company 
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 808.HK); a non-
executive director of ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited 
as the manager of Fortune REIT, a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 778.HK).

Dr. Chiu is a Fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, 
a Council Member and a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute 
of Directors, a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate 
Administrators, a Vice Chairman of the Board of Governors of 
Hong Kong Baptist University Foundation, an Honorary Associate 
Member of Business of Trent University, Canada, a member of the 
Singapore Management University International Advisory Council 
in China, an Adjunct Professor and a member of the Advisory 
Committee of the School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist 
University, an Adjunct Professor of Changzhou University and a 
Senior Departmental Fellow of the Department of Land Economy 
at University of Cambridge, the United Kingdom. Dr. Chiu was 
previously an Honorary Professor of School of Pharmaceutical 
Sciences of Sun Yat-sen University and a member of the Standing 
Committee of the 12th Shanghai Committee of the Chinese 
People’s Political Consultative Conference of the People’s Republic 
of China.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Dr. Chiu is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.
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Mr. Mak Ming Hoi ( ) (“Mr. Mak”), aged 39, was 
appointed as our independent non-executive Director, the 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each 
of the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee on 30 
September 2024. Mr. Mak is primarily responsible for supervising 
the management of our Group independently.

Mr. Mak has over 15 years of experience in accounting, finance, 
company secretarial and compliance through working at different 
listed companies. Mr. Mak has been a company secretary in 
Dakin Asset Management Limited since March 2017, and then 
is reassigned to be a Responsible Officer for Type 9 (Asset 
Management) regulated activity under the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), where he 
is responsible for its strategies development, supervisory and 
implement the operations in asset management.

Mr. Mak obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) 
from Curtin University of Technology, Australia, and a Degree of 
Master of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University. Mr. Mak has been a member of each of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, CPA Australia, The 
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, and The Chartered 
Governance Institute.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Mak is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Leung Ping Tak Peter ( ) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 43, 
was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 5 
February 2025.

Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in the finance and 
banking industry. Prior to joining the Company, from October 
2013 to January 2025, Mr. Leung held senior management and 
leadership roles at China Galaxy International Asset Management 
(Hong Kong) Co. Limited, a subsidiary of China Galaxy Securities 
Co., Ltd. (the “CGS”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 6881.HK) and served as the director for several 
subsidiaries of the CGS and its associated companies in various 
jurisdictions, including Thailand, Singapore, Mauritius, and 
Cayman Islands and he was mainly responsible for managing 
and leading financial innovations, product developments, private 
equity investments and overseas acquisitions. Before October 
2013, Mr. Leung worked in China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., 
Limited, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Asset 
Management Limited, Citibank (Hong Kong) Limited, State Street 
Bank and Trust Company, and other firms.

Mr. Leung is also currently serving as a key committee member 
for multiple established and reputable associations, including 
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, Chinese Asset 
Management Association of Hong Kong, Securities Association of 
China, and the Greater Bay Area Association of Listed Companies.

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration 
from Simon Fraser University in Canada.

Saved as disclosed in this section, Mr. Leung is not connected with 
any other Directors or members of the senior management of our 
Company.
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The Board recognises the importance of good corporate 
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as 
well as preserving the interests of its shareholders as a whole. 
The Company has adopted a set of corporate governance 
practices which aligns with the code provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 
of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has also established whistleblowing channels for 
external parties to raise concerns in relation to possible misconduct 
of the Group, its employees or Directors in a confidential or 
anonymous manner, or both. The Board has delegated authority to 
the Audit Committee to review the Group Anti-Bribery and Anti- 
Corruption Policy and the Group Whistleblowing Policy periodically 
and receive updates on matters concerning breaches of the Group 
Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy and whistleblowing 
disclosures.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the 
CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate 
governance practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the 
CG Code.

THE COMPANY’S CULTURE

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and 
strategy. The Company is committed to developing a positive and 
progressive culture that is built on its purpose, vision, and values. 
Building an open, safe and dynamic work environment allows 
employees across the Group to thrive and meet their full potential 
and enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable growth 
and success.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is committed to seeking 
progress while maintaining stability and strives to improve 
operational efficiency and strengthen the risk control measures. 
The Group will strive to extend its business to upstream and 
downstream of the industrial chain and further explore business 
opportunities to achieve sustainable long-term success of the 
Group.

C1
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C3

A.2.1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED 
ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ 
securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed that, following 
specific enquiry by the Company, they have complied with the 
required standard set out in the Model Code for the Reporting 
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance 
duties as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During 
the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed and discussed the 
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with 
the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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C.2.1

2025 2 5

C.2.7

3.13

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
OFFICER

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman 
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is the chairman of the Board and executive 
Director, who has a pivotal role to the Board in relation to the 
management, strategic planning and overall budget of our Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not appointed any 
chief executive officer. The daily operation and management of 
the Company is monitored by the executive Directors.

On 5 February 2025, the Company appointed Mr. Leung Ping Tak 
Peter as the chief executive officer of us. Mr. Leung Ping Tak Peter 
is responsible for the corporate strategic execution and day-to-
day management and administration of the Group’s business and 
operation.

CG Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at 
least annually hold meetings with independent non-executive 
directors without the presence of other directors. During the 
Reporting Period, the Company has conducted such meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled 
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience 
in the fields of accounting, finance, business and corporate 
governance. Their skills, expertise and number in the Board ensure 
that strong independent views and judgement are brought in the 
Board’s deliberations and that such views and judgement carry 
weight in the Board’s decision-making process. Their presence and 
participation also enable the Board to maintain high standards 
of compliance in financial and other mandatory reporting 
requirements, and provide adequate checks and balances to 
safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company annually assesses the independence of each 
independent non-executive Director during their terms of 
appointment. The Company received written annual confirmation 
from each independent non-execut ive Director of their 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors 
to be independent.



29應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three 
independent non-executive Directors. The Board’s composition 
during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual 
report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Name Age Gender
Date of joining 
the Group Skills and experience Roles and responsibilities

      

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing 63 Male 30 September 2022 Executive leadership & strategy, 
experience in the industry of 
manufacturing and distribution 
of footwear.

Overseeing the strategic planning and 
overall budget of our Group; serves as the 
Chairman of the Board and the Nomination 
Committee

63 2022 9 30

Mr. Lin Minqiang 69 Male 23 January 2006 Executive leadership & strategy, 
experience in the industry 
of dyeing services and 
manufacturing of lace.

Overseeing the management, strategic 
planning and overall budget of the business 
of dyeing services and manufacturing of 
lace of our Group

69 2006 1 23

Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin 74 Male 30 September 2022 Executive leadership & strategy, 
international business and 
marketing expertise, experience 
in the footwear and apparel 
industry.

Overseeing sales and marketing of the 
footwear business of our Group

Larry Stuart  
Torchin

74 2022 9 30

Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki 31 Female 1 December 2021 Business management expertise, 
experience in the merchandising 
industry.

Overseeing business development, 
management of product design and 
development, management of supply 
chain, and enhancement of the operation 
procedures and efficiency of our Group; 
serves on the Nomination Committee

31 2021 12 1  



30 Star Shine Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Directors

Name Age Gender
Date of joining 
the Group Skills and experience Roles and responsibilities

      

Mr. Chow Kit Ting 40 Male 16 December 2020 Directorship and senior executive 
experience with other listed 
companies, accounting 
professionals, financial 
management expertise, 
regulatory & compliance/risk 
management expertise.

Supervising and providing independent advice 
to our Group; serves as the chairman 
of the Audit Committee; serves on 
the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee

40 2020 12 16

Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, 
Justin

74 Male 30 September 2022 Directorship and senior executive 
experience with other listed 
companies.

Supervising and providing independent advice 
to our Group; serves on the Remuneration 
Committee, the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination Committee

74 2022 9 30  

Mr. Chan Hoi Shan
(resigned on 30 

September 2024)

67 Male 30 September 2022 Experience in the sales industry. Supervising and providing independent advice 
to our Group; serves as the chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee, serves on 
the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
Committee

2024 9 30  
67 2022 9 30

Mr. Mak Ming Hoi 

(appointed on 30 
 September 2024)

39 Male 30 September 2024 Capital market expertise, 
accounting professionals, 
financial management expertise, 
regulatory & compliance/risk 
management expertise.

Supervising and providing independent advice 
to our Group; serves as the chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee, serves on 
the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
Committee

 
2024 9 30  

39 2024 9 30
 

Biographical details of the members of the Board and relationship 
between members of the Board are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Officers” in this annual 
report.



31應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

 

3 3

3 3

The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects 
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the 
requirements of the business development of the Group and for 
effective leadership as the executive Directors possess extensive 
experience in managing the Group’s business operations; and 
professional knowledge in the fabrics weaving industry, dyeing 
industry, and footwear industry while the three independent 
non-executive Directors possess professional knowledge and 
broad experience in accounting, finance, business and corporate 
governance. The Directors are of the opinion that the current 
Board structure can ensure the independence and objectivity 
of the Board and are most relevant to the Company’s strategy, 
governance and business and to enabling the Board to effectively 
discharge its duties and responsibilities in attaining the Company’s 
strategic objectives and achieving sustainable and balanced 
development for the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the 
requirement of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three 
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one- 
third of the Board) with one of them possessing appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the 
Company. It oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions, 
financial performance and internal controls and it is collectively 
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by 
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board shall make decisions 
objectively in the interests of the Company and its shareholders. 
Daily business operations and management, inter alia, the 
implementation of strategies are delegated to the executive 
Directors along with other senior management. They report 
periodically to the Board their work and business decisions.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND 
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, Each of the executive Directors has 
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial 
term of 3 years from the  effective date of appointment, renewable 
for another 3 years upon expiry, subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with 
the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a 
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of 
3 years from the effective date of appointment, renewable for 
another 3 years upon expiry, subject to retirement by rotation and 
re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the 
Articles.
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108(a)

112

108(a) 112 Larry Stuart Torchin

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the 
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one 
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office 
by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple 
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third 
shall be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire 
in each year shall be those who have been in office longest since 
their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who 
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those 
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be 
determined by lot.

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, at any time or from time 
to time, the Board shall have the power to appoint any person 
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an 
additional Director to the existing Board subject to any maximum 
number of Directors, if any, as may be determined by the members 
in a general meeting. Any Director so appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of 
our Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election 
at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition to the 
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general 
meeting of our Company after his appointment and be eligible 
for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed by the 
Board shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors 
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an 
annual general meeting.

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the 
Company before the expiration of his term of office (but without 
prejudice to any claim which such Director may have for damages 
for any breach of any contract between him and the Company) 
and the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint another in 
his place.

Pursuant to articles 108(a) and 112 of the Articles, Mr. Larry Stuart 
Torchin, Mr. Chow Kit Ting and Mr. Mak Ming Hoi will retire and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting (“AGM”).
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DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to developing a positive, diverse 
and inclusive culture that is anchored by our purpose, vision and 
values.

To enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain high 
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted a 
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets 
out the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity 
of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in 
selecting candidates to the Board, including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. 
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that 
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, 
including knowledge and experience in the areas of fabrics 
weaving and dyeing, footwear business, auditing and accounting 
and business administration. Furthermore, the Directors range 
from 31 years old to 74 years old, and comprise 6 males and 1 
female.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity 
of Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing 
board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination Committee 
will review the Board Diversity Policy and diversity profile (including 
gender balance) from time to time to ensure its continued 
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revision 
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the 
Board. The Company will also disclose in the corporate governance 
report on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives 
on an annual basis.

The Company is also committed to adopting a similar approach to 
promote diversity of the management (including but not limited to 
the senior management) to enhance the effectiveness of corporate 
governance. 

As of 31 December 2024, the senior management had 20.0 per 
cent female representation, with 1 female member out of 5. More 
details on the Group’s diversity and inclusion initiatives, including 
employees’ gender ratios, are set out in the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination 
Policy”) for the Nomination Committee to consider and make 
recommendations on suitable candidates for directorship.

Selection criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the 
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed 
candidate:

(1) reputation for integrity;

(2) accomplishment and experience in the business in which the 
Group is engaged in;

(3) commitment in respect of available time and relevant 
interest;

(4) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race, 
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational 
background and length of service;

(5) qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills, 
knowledge and industry experience that are relevant to the 
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

(6) the number of existing directorships and other commitments 
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

(7) requirement for the Board to have independent non- 
executive directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and 
whether the candidates would be considered independent 
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in 
Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

(8) Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable 
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for 
achieving diversity on the Board; and

(9) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s 
business.

The aforesaid factors are for reference only, and not meant to 
be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the 
discretion to nominate any person as it considers appropriate.

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 
18

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 
3.08

3.09 3.13

(8) 

(9) 
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Procedures for nominating director

Subject to the provisions in the Articles and the Listing Rules, if the 
Board recognises the need for an additional Director or a member 
of senior management, the following procedures will be followed:

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify 
potential candidates based on the criteria as set out in the 
selection criteria, possibly with assistance from external 
agencies and/or advisors;

(2) The Nomination Committee and/or the company secretary 
of the Company will provide the Board with the biographical 
details and details of the relationship between the candidate 
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills 
and experience, other positions which involve significant time 
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing 
Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other 
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment 
to the Board;

(3) The Nomination Committee will make recommendation to 
the Board on the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and 
conditions of the appointment;

(4) The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed 
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being 
particularly mindful of gender balance;

(5) In the case of the appointment of an independent non- 
executive director, the Nomination Committee and/or 
the Board should obtain all information in relation to the 
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess 
the independence of the Director in accordance with the 
factors set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the 
Stock Exchange from time to time; and

(6) The Board wi l l  then de l iberate and dec ide on the 
appointment based upon the recommendation of the 
Nomination Committee.

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

3.08 3.09
3.13

(6) 
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Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the 
Nomination Policy and reports to the Board annually.

PROCEEDINGS OF GENERAL MEETINGS, 
BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD 
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board may meet for the dispatch of business, adjourn and 
otherwise regulate its meeting and proceedings as it thinks fit 
and may determine the quorum necessary for the transaction of 
business. An AGM shall be called by at least 21 days’ notice in 
writing, and a general meeting of the Company, other than an 
AGM, shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The 
notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed 
to be served and of the day for which it is given, and must specify 
the time, place and agenda of the meeting and particulars of the 
resolution(s) to be considered at that meeting and, in the case of 
special business, the general nature of that business.

A meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board may 
be held by means of such telephone, electronic or other 
communication facilities as permit all persons participating in the 
meeting.

A Director shall not vote (nor shall he be counted in the quorum) 
on any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract 
or arrangement or proposal in which he or any of his close 
associate(s) has/have a material interest, and if he shall do so his 
vote shall not be counted (nor shall he be counted in the quorum 
for that resolution).

At least four regular Board meetings involving active participation, 
either in person or through electronic means of communication, 
of a majority of Directors will be held at approximately quarterly 
intervals in each financial year to comply with code provision C.5.1 
of the CG Code. All Directors will have the opportunity to include 
matters in the agenda for the regular board meetings. Written 
notice of at least 14 days will be given of a regular board meeting 
to all Directors, and agenda and accompanying board papers will 
be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date 
of meeting. Four Board meetings were held during the Reporting 
Period.

 

21

14

C.5.1

14
3
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board 
Committee meetings of the Company held during the Reporting 
Period are set out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

      

Executive Directors
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing 4/4 – 2/2 –

Mr. Lin Minqiang 4/4 – – –

Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin Larry Stuart Torchin 
2/4 – – –

Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki 3/4 – – –

Independent Non-Executive 
Directors

Mr. Chow Kit Ting 4/4 3/3 – 2/2
Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2
Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (resigned on 

30 September 2024)
2024

9 30 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2
Mr. Mak Ming Hoi (appointed 

on 30 September 2024)
2024

9 30 – – – –

Except for Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, Mr. Lin Minqiang, Mr. Larry Stuart 
Torchin and Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin who did not attend the 
2024 annual general meeting (the “2024 AGM”) of the Company 
due to other business commitments, all other Directors, Ms. Tsoi 
Lam Ki as executive Director, and Mr. Chow Kit Ting and Mr. Chan 
Hoi Shan as independent non-executive Directors attended the 
2024 AGM.

The management has been providing all members of the Board a 
monthly update in accordance with code provision D.1.2 of the 
CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit 
committee (“Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee 
(“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee 
(“Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects 
of the Company’s affairs. All committees have been established 
with defined written terms of reference, which were posted on 
the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the 
Company (www.starshineholdings.com). All committees should 
report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made. 
All committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge 
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at 
the Company’s expense.

Larry Stuart Torchin

2024 2024
 

2024

D.1.2

(www.hkex.com.hk)
www.starshineholdings.com
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Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 16 December 
2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 
of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The terms 
of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites 
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Chow Kit Ting, who holds 
the appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules 
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules and have two other members, 
namely Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin, Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (resigned 
on 30 September 2024) and Mr. Mak Ming Hoi (appointed on 30 
September 2024).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not 
limited to, the following: (i) assisting the Board by providing an 
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting 
process, internal control and risk management systems of the 
Group; (ii) overseeing the audit process and performing other 
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board; (iii) developing 
and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance;
(iv) making recommendations to the Board; and (v) ensuring 
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are 
established.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three 
meeting and the work performed by the Audit Committee was 
summarised as follows:

(1) reviewed the Company’s interim results and annual results;

(2) reviewed the findings and recommendations from external 
auditors;

(3) reviewed the independence and engagement of the external 
auditors;

(4) reviewed the audit plan, the development in new accounting 
standards and their impact on the Group’s financial 
performance and position;

(5) reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and 
experience of staff in the Group’s accounting and financial 
reporting functions;

(6) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems;

(7) reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and 
practices;

(8) reviewed the Group Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 
and the Group Whistleblowing Policy; and

(9) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the 
appointment of the new auditor and related matters.

2020 12 16 3.21
D.3

3.10(2) 3.21
2024

9 30 2024 9 30

(i)
(ii)

(iii) (iv)
(v)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 
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The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the 
Company the annual results and annual report of the Company for 
the Reporting Period, including accounting principles and practices 
adopted by the Group, and discussed internal controls and 
financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee is of the opinion 
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
Reporting Period comply with applicable accounting standards and 
the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 
16 December 2020 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with paragraph E of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the 
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the 
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chan Hoi Shan 
(resigned on 30 September 2024), Mr. Mak Ming Hoi (appointed 
on 30 September 2024), and have two other members, namely 
Mr. Chow Kit Ting and Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but 
are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations 
to the Board on our policy and structure for all remuneration 
of Directors and senior management and on the establishment 
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 
such remuneration; (ii) determining the specific remuneration 
packages of all executive Directors and senior management and 
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 
non-executive Directors; (iii) reviewing and/or approving matters 
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; 
and (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration 
proposal with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved 
by the Board from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 
two meetings to review the performance and remuneration 
packages and emoluments of the Directors and senior 
management and considered that they are fair and reasonable 
during the Reporting Period.

2020 12 16 E

2024 9 30
2024 9 30

(i)

(ii)

(iii) 17
(iv)
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 16 
December 2020 with written terms of reference in compliance 
with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing, and 
have four other members, namely Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin, 
Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (resigned on 30 September 2024), Mr. Mak 
Ming Hoi (appointed on 30 September 2024), Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki 
(appointed on 28 March 2025) and Mr. Chow Kit Ting (appointed 
on 28 March 2025).

The primary duties of our Nomination Committee include, 
but are not l imited to, the fol lowing: ( i )  rev iewing the 
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the 
independence of independent non-executive Directors; (iii) 
making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the 
appointment and re- appointment of Director; and (iv) reviewing 
the Board Diversity Policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two 
meetings and the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, 
size and composition of the Board, assessing the independence of 
independent non-executive Directors, identify individuals suitably 
qualified to become board members and make recommendations 
to the Board and reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and other 
matters of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend 
Policy”) which aims to ensure sustainable development of its 
business operations and to provide a favorable return to its 
shareholders.

The declaration and payment of future dividends will be subject 
to the decision of the Board having regard to various factors, 
including but not limited to the Group’s business operation 
and financial performance, profitability, business development, 
prospect, capital requirements, and economic outlook. Declaration 
and payment of dividends is also subject to any applicable laws 
and the Articles. The dividend distribution record in the past 
may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of 
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Board in the future. 
Currently, the Group does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio 
and does not have a pre-determined dividend distribution action.

2020 12 16 B.3

2024 9 30
2024 9 30

2025 3 28
2025 3 28

(i) (ii)
(iii)

(iv)
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2023

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and 
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend 
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board thinks 
fit and necessary. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute 
a legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend 
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the 
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

In the past years, the market economy remained uncertain and the 
recovery of China’s economy is not as vigorous as anticipated, the 
Group recorded loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
for the Reporting Period and the FY2023. Therefore, during the 
Reporting Period, the Board did not declare and pay any interim 
or final dividend. These decisions made by the Board were in 
accordance with the Company’s dividend policy. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has delegated the corporate governance function to the 
Audit Committee, whose authorities include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices 
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous 
profess iona l deve lopment of D i rectors and sen ior 
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices 
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 
Directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and 
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The corporate governance policy is formulated with an emphasis 
on the Board’s quality, effective internal control, stringent 
disclosure practices and transparency and accountability to all 
shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to comply with 
the code provisions and reviews its corporate governance policy 
regularly in order to maintain high standards of business ethics 
and corporate governance, and to ensure the full compliance of 
the Group’s operations with applicable laws and regulations.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors are provided with 
comprehensive induction training conducted by senior executives 
and external legal advisers to ensure that they have a thorough 
understanding of the Group’s operations and governance policies, 
as well as their role and responsibilities as Board members. 
Mr. Mak Ming Hoi, who was appointed as Director effective from 
30 September 2024, attended a training session on the same day, 
at which an external legal adviser provided legal advice on Hong 
Kong law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules 
that are applicable to him as director of a listed company, his 
obligations as Director, and the possible consequences of making 
false declarations or giving false information to the SFC. He has 
confirmed his understanding of the information provided by the 
legal adviser.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

 

2024 9 30
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C.1.4Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should 
part ic ipate in a programme of cont inuous profess ional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to 
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 
relevant. The Company recommends and/or arranges the Directors 
to participate in Director’s training courses in order to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, the Company 
also provides relevant reading materials to the Directors for their 
studying and reference.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their 
training records. The records are maintained by the Company 
Secretary for annual review by the Nomination Committee. During 
the Reporting Period, the Directors received training by attending 
or participating in Board knowledge sessions, management 
briefings, and events such as conferences, seminars, workshops 
and reading the relevant materials on Directors’ duties and 
other topics relevant to the Company’s strategy, business and 
governance.

2024 Directors’ Training by Topic
2024

Name of Directors

The 
Company’s 

strategy/
business

Markets & 
products

Director’s 
duties/ESG 

practices

Financial 
reporting/risk 
management

Legislative/
regulatory 

compliance

ESG       

Executive Directors 
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr. Lin Minqiang ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin Larry Stuart Torchin ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Independent Non-Executive 
Directors

Mr. Chow Kit Ting ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr. Chan Hoi Shan ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

Mr. Mak Ming Hoi ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited was appointed as auditor of the 
Company. During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or 
payable to the Company’s auditor is set out below:

Fee paid 
or payable

Services rendered
RMB’000

   

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
– Audit services 821
– Non-audit services 410 

1,231
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the 
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period. In 
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Reporting 
Period, the Directors:

• assessed the reasonableness of preparing the consolidated 
financial statements taking into consideration the Group’s 
financial performance, position, cash flows and liquidity 
ratios;

• selected suitable accounting policies and applied them 
consistently; and

• made judgements and estimates in a prudent, fair and 
reasonable manner.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The statement 
of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting 
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out 
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 
99 to 108 of this annual report.

 
 

• 

• 

• 

99 108



45應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Financial reporting

The Board, which is responsible for overseeing the preparation 
of annual financial statements, receives monthly updates on 
the Group’s performance, financial position, and prospects. 
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024, the Board adopted appropriate accounting 
policies consistently, made prudent and reasonable judgements 
and estimates, and ensured that the financial statements were 
prepared on a going concern basis and show a true and fair 
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2024 and of the Group’s consolidated financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Risk management and internal control

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and 
determining the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG 
risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic 
objectives, maintaining sound and effective risk management 
and internal control systems (including ESG risks) and reviewing 
their effectiveness to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the 
Group’s assets.

The Board reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems (including ESG 
risks) at least annually, through the Audit Committee. During 
the Reporting Period, there were not any significant changes in 
the Company’s assessment of risks (including ESG risks), the risk 
management and internal control systems (including ESG risks).The 
Board confirms that the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems (including, among others, material risks relating 
to ESG) are appropriate and effective for the purposes set out in 
Principle D2 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Company has established the following risk management 
procedures to provide reasonable assurance against material 
errors, losses or fraud:

(1) Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could 
affect the achievement of goals of the Group;

(2) Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identif ied 
risk according to its likely impact and the likelihood of 
occurrence; and

(3) Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate 
the risks.

 

2024 12 31

2024 12 31

D2

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated 
annually, and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and 
mitigation of each function or operation are documented to 
communicate to the Board and management for reviews.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management functions has been carried out by an independent 
consultancy company. The independent consultancy company has 
conducted analysis and independent assessment on the adequacy 
and the effectiveness of the internal control system and risk 
management of the Group, and has submitted the findings and 
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board. Over 
the Audit Committee meeting and Board meeting held on 28 
March 2025, the Audit Committee and the Board reviewed the 
report issued by independent consultancy company and they are 
of the view that no significant control failings or weaknesses were 
identified during the Reporting Period and the internal control 
measures in place are adequate and effective to safeguard the 
interest of Company’s shareholders and the Group’s assets.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking into 
account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business, 
the Board have sufficient capacity to oversee the design and 
implementation of the risk management and internal control 
system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly there is no 
immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the 
Group.

The Group has implemented a policy on disclosure of inside 
information which sets out the procedures and internal controls 
for handling and dissemination of inside information. The policy 
provides guidelines to the Directors and all relevant employees 
of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the 
Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It 
also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems to 
identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

(1) define the requirements of periodic financial and operational 
reporting to the Board to enable them to assess inside 
information and make timely disclosures, if necessary;

2025 3 28

(1) 
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(2) controls the access to inside information by employees on 
a need-to-know basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality 
of the inside information before it is properly disclosed to 
public; and

(3) procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders 
in ways which are in compliance with the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Xu Jing was appointed as the company secretary of the 
Company on 20 February 2020 and she is responsible for the 
Group’s company secretarial duties and corporate governance 
matters in relation to the Company. Ms. Xu Jing possesses 
the necessary qualification and experience, and is capable of 
performing the functions of a company secretary. During the 
Reporting Period, Ms. Xu Jing confirmed that she has taken no less 
than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required under 
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for 
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM 
of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may 
be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an 
AGM, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN 
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general 
meetings may be convened on the requisition of one or more 
members holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not 
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having 
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be 
made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the Company 
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting 
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such 
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in 
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(2) 

(3) 

2020 2 20

3.29 15
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PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS 
TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the 
attention of the company secretary at the Company’s principal 
place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD 
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders of the Company are requested to follow article 64 of 
the Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general 
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in 
the paragraph headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary 
general meeting”.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person (other than a 
retiring Director) shall, unless recommended by the Board for 
election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any 
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to 
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing 
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been 
lodged at the head office of the Company or at the Hong Kong 
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company. The 
period for lodgement of such notices will commence no earlier 
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general 
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven 
days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum 
length of the period during which such notices to the Company 
may be given will be at least seven days.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a 
person for election as a Director is posted on the website of the 
Company. Shareholders or the Company may refer to the above 
procedures for putting forward any other proposals at general 
meetings.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular 
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its 
shareholders. Information of the Company is disseminated to the 
shareholders in the following manner:

• Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all 
shareholders;

• Publication of announcements on the annual and interim 
results on the website of the Company and the website of 
the Stock Exchange, and issue of other announcements and 
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing 
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and

• The general meeting of the Company is also an effective 
commun i ca t i on  channe l  be tween the  Boa rd  and 
shareholders.

The Company has in place a shareholder communication policy to 
ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately 
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its 
effectiveness.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and 
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and 
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, 
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the 
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s head office 
or principal place of business in Hong Kong. The Company also 
maintains a website at www.starshineholdings.com where up-
to-date information and updates of the Company’s operations, 
performances and strategies are available to public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no changes in the constitutional documents of the 
Company during the Reporting Period.

• 

• 

• 

www.starshineholdings.com)
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Star Shine Holdings Group Limited (the “Company” and its 
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) presents the Environmental, 
Social and Governance (“ESG”) report, which contains information 
on the Group’s business activities, ESG governance, strategies, 
performances and ongoing commitment towards sustainable 
development. This ESG report is intended to enhance the 
confidence and understanding of the stakeholders towards the 
Group.

COMPANY PROFILE

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is 
principally engaged in (i) manufacturing of lace and provision of 
dyeing services; and (ii) footwear business. Services and products 
of this business segment can be broadly categorised into (i) dyeing 
services; (ii) manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing services; 
and (iii) footwear business. The Group’s business operations are 
carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong (the “PRC”).

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The Group presents its ESG report that captures the ESG 
performance of the Group from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 
2024.

Based on the principle of materiality, the scope of this report 
covers the Group’s business operations in both Mainland China 
and Hong Kong. All the companies of the Group were included in 
the assessment of ESG performance for the purpose of this report.

BASIS FOR COMPILATION OF THE REPORT

This report was prepared with reference to the Environmental, 
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting 
Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). An assessment on 
the applicability and materiality of the relevant key performance 
indicators under the ESG Reporting Guide had been conducted.

ESG
ESG

ESG

(i)
(ii)
(i) (ii)

(iii)

ESG
2024 1 1 2024 12 31 ESG

ESG

C2
ESG
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ESG ESG

ESG ESG
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ESG REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group applied the following principles in this report:

Materiality: In compliance with the requirements of materiality 
principle defined by the Stock Exchange, the ESG issues considered 
by the board of directors (the “Board”) and the ESG working 
group, stakeholders communication, identification process of 
substantive issues and the substantive issues are disclosed in the 
corresponding part of this report.

Quantitative: Targets have been set by the Group to reduce 
the emissions from business operations and to evaluate the 
effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems. Statistical 
standards, methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools for 
quantitative key performance indicators herein and source of 
conversion factors are all explained below.

Balance: This report shall provide an unbiased picture of the 
Group’s performance during the reporting period and should 
avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may 
inappropriately influence the decision or judgment made by the 
report readers.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to the data 
disclosed in this report shall be consistent.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges the importance of ESG commitment and 
it takes ESG into consideration in its decision making process. The 
Group has developed an ESG governance structure to integrate 
ESG into its business operations and align ESG governance with its 
strategic growth. The ESG governance structure is divided into two 
components, namely the Board and an ESG working group.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy 
and reporting. It oversees the overall governance and progress 
of the Group’s ESG management system, policies, commitments, 
strategies and objectives. It also participates in the evaluation 
and determination of ESG-related risks. The Group implemented 
ESG management system and policies to ensure compliance 
with the relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, 
achieve other ESG objectives and mitigate ESG-related risks. It also 
formed a designated ESG working group to oversee and monitor 
the implementation and effectiveness of the ESG management 
system and policies. The ESG working group reports to the Board 
regularly. In order to evaluate, prioritise and manage the Group’s 
material ESG issues, the Board discusses and reviews the Group’s 
ESG-related risks, performance, progress, goals and targets 
regularly with the assistance of the ESG working group. The Board 
reviewed the contents disclosed in this report.
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The data and information in this ESG report are sourced from the 
relevant documents, reports, statistical data, management and 
operation information collected by the Group.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance structure 
and practices has been set out in the section headed “Corporate 
Governance Report” of this annual report.

ESG STRATEGIES

The Group believes that it is essential to implement appropriate 
ESG strategies in order to achieve sustainable corporate 
development. Key ESG strategies of the Group are set out below:

• Maintain regular communications with stakeholders to 
identify ESG aspects that are material and relevant.

• Maintain high environmental and social standards to ensure 
sustainable development of the Group’s business operations.

• Comply with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to 
the Group’s business operations including health and safety, 
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

• Encourage employees, customers, suppliers and other 
stakeholders to participate in environmental and social 
activities that benefit the community as a whole.

• Review the ESG strategies on an annual basis.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group listens to its stakeholders as their contributions are 
critical to the Group’s long-term success and development. The 
Group communicates with its stakeholders regularly through 
diverse channels to understand their concerns and respond in a 
timely manner. The table below sets forth the key stakeholders 
identified by the Group and provides the basis for identifying 
substantive ESG issues of the Group.

Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Management responses

   

Shareholders • Act in the best interest of shareholders
 
• Return on investment
 
• Information disclosure
 
• Compliance with laws and regulations
 

• Actively identify attractive business 
opportunities

 
• Improve profitability
 
• Regular information disclosure
 
• Enhance risk management and internal 

controls
 

Governments and regulatory 
bodies

• Compliance with laws and regulations
 
• Business and economic development
 
• Social contribution
 
• Fulfilment of tax obligations
 
• Environment protection
 

• Enhance risk management and internal 
controls

 
• Regular update on relevant laws and 

regulations
 
• Pay tax in full and on time
 
• Purchase/upgrade facilities to reduce 

emissions arising from the production 
process
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Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Management responses

   

Employees • Employee compensation and benefits
 
• Training and career development
 
• Safe working environment
 

• Offer attractive salary and incentives 
based on performance

 
• Provide regular trainings for employees
 
• Monitor work safety and make sure 

employees are familiar with the work 
safety handbook

 

Customers • Quality products and services
 
• Protection of customers rights
 

• Enhance quality control on production 
process and products

 
• Perform the contract according to law
 

Suppliers • Integrity cooperation
 
• Business ethics and credibility
 

• Build a long-term reliable supply chain
 
• Perform the contract according to law
 

Communities/public • Environmental protection
 
• Employment opportunities
 

• Reduce environmental pollutions
 
• Purchase/upgrade facilities to reduce 

emissions arising from the production 
process

 

• Provide equal employment opportunities
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The ESG working group reviews the Group’s operations and 
identifies relevant ESG issues and assesses the importance of 
related matters to its businesses and stakeholders. The ESG 
working group regularly collects information and views from 
relevant departments and stakeholders of the Group to identify 
significant ESG issues. The table below sets forth the Group’s 
significant ESG issues based on their relative importance:

ESG aspects as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide The Group’s significant ESG issues
ESG ESG ESG  

(A) Environmental
(A)

A1 Emissions
A1

Air pollutant emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions

Sewage treatment

Hazardous waste management

A2 Use of Resources
A2

Energy management

Water management

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3

Negative environmental impacts arising from business 
operations

A4 Climate Change
A4

Global warming
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ESG aspects as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide The Group’s significant ESG issues
ESG ESG ESG  

(B) Social
(B)

B1 Employment
B1

Recruitment, promotion, and dismissal Compensation and 
benefits

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination

B2 Health and Safety
B2

Safety production management

B3 Development and Training
B3

Employee development and training

B4 Labour Standards
B4

Prevention of child and forced labour

B5 Supply Chain Management
B5

Supply chain management

B6 Product Responsibility
B6

Product quality and safety

Customer satisfaction

B7 Anti-corruption
B7

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering

B8 Community Investment
B8

Corporate social responsibility

CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL

This ESG report had undergone the internal review process of the 
Group and was reviewed by the Board. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, the Group confirmed that it has established 
appropriate and effective management policies and internal 
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed 
contents comply with the requirements of the ESG Reporting 
Guide.
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CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and 
suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of this ESG 
report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development 
by mailing to Unit C, 21/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 
Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENT

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to protect the 
environment and it has implemented policies to reduce 
emissions and improve the efficiency in the use of resources.

The Group’s business is subject to various PRC environmental 
protection laws and regulations as well as environmental 
regulations promulgated by the local governments where the 
Group operates. Under the prevailing laws and regulations 
in the PRC, the Group is subject to provisions including 
Environmental Protection law of the PRC (

), Promotion of Cleaner Production Law of the 
PRC ( ), Water Pollution 
Prevention and Control Law of the PRC (

), Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise 
Pollution Law of the PRC (

), and Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution 
Law of the PRC ( ).

To ensure compliance with the latest environmental laws 
and regulations, the Group has implemented stringent 
environmental protection policies setting out its goals and 
policies in relation to environmental matters. The Group has 
also installed air filtration facilities and sewage treatment 
system to reduce emissions. The Group obtained a certificate 
for complying with the requirement of GB/T 24001 – 2016/
ISO14001:2015 for its environmental management system 
on 11 October 2018.

The Group is required under the PRC law to obtain a valid 
pollutant discharge permit for its production facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
obtained all relevant pollutant discharge permit and it 
complied with all applicable environmental laws and 
regulations in all material respects and had not been 
subject to any material penalty in relation to environmental 
protection.
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A.1 Emissions

Emissions from the Group’s production process include 
air pollutants, sewage and solid waste.

In order to reduce the level of pollution, the Group has 
(i) upgraded its boilers to generate heat from natural 
gas for its dyeing services, which would significantly 
reduce the amount of air pollutants emitted; and (ii) 
installed a sewage treatment system to collect and 
process sewage to reduce hazardous substance in 
the sewage generated during the dyeing process in 
accordance with different national standards (GB 
13271-2014 for air and GB 4287-2012 for wastewater) 
in the PRC, which are comparable to corresponding 
international standards. An online real-time monitoring 
system has also been installed to connect such facilities 
to environmental authority of the PRC government, 
ensuring that the Group can meet the pollutant 
emission standard at all times. The Group has been 
spending continuous effort to enhance its equipment 
and facilities for satisfying the increasingly stringent 
environmental protection requirement. During the year 
ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not exceed 
any maximum pollutants emission standards under the 
monitoring system and maintained a clean record with 
the government.

To complement with the use of natural-gas-boiler, 
the Group has also acquired some crucial waste 
treatment equipment, including flue gas purifying 
treatment machines which can transform and filter the 
concentrated smoke produced by its natural-gas-boiler 
to less harmful substances and water vapour. This new 
equipment allows the Group to control the amount of 
pollutants emitted to the environment in a more stable 
way and fulfil the discharge standard stipulated by the 
PRC government.
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ESG

Besides, the Group has a number of vehicles for 
travelling and transportation of materials and products, 
which generate exhaust gas from the combustion 
of petrol and diesel. The Group’s emission reduction 
measures for vehicles include:

• turn off the engine when the vehicle is not in use;

• plan routes ahead of time to reduce route 
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

• undergo maintenance service regularly to ensure 
optimal engine performance and fuel use;

• use electric vehicles; and

• optimise operational procedures to increase 
efficiency and reduce vehicle idling rates

(i) Air pollutant emissions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, air 
pollutants generated from the use of the Group’s 
coal-burning-boiler contributed to the emission 
of 19.32 kg (2023: 18.04 kg) of nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), 19.84 kg (2023: 18.52 kg) of sulphur 
oxides (SOx) and 3.20 kg (2023: 3.02 kg) of 
respiratory suspended particles (PM), and air 
pollutants generated from the use of the Group’s 
motor vehicles contributed to the emission of 
463.23 kg (2023: 58.22 kg) of nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), 5.83 kg (2023: 0.73 kg) of sulphur oxides 
(SOx) and 34.58 kg (2023: 4.32 kg) of respiratory 
suspended particles (PM).

Air pollutant emissions reduction target

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance, 
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for 
air pollutant emissions as follows:

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status

    

NOx emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
2027 2% 2022

SOx emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
2027 2% 2022

PM emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
2027 2% 2022
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40,736.61

2023 37,030.85

(ii) GHG emissions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group’s activities contributed to 40,736.61 tonnes 
(2023: 37,030.85 tonnes) of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide 
and hydrofluorocarbons) GHG emissions. The 
table below sets forth details of the Group’s GHG 
emissions by scope:

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

Scope of GHG emissions Unit Emission Emission

    

Scope 1 Direct emissions
1

Consumption of coal during the use of 
coal-burning-boiler

tCO2e 26,173.19 24,334.02

Combustion of petrol and diesel for  
mobile vehicles

tCO2e 849.66 119.40

Scope 2 Indirect emissions
2

Purchased electricity tCO2e 13,285.31 12,267.71

Scope 3 Other indirect emissions
3

Paper waste disposal tCO2e – –

Water consumption tCO2e 363.85 305.88

Business air travel tCO2e 64.60 3.84

Total GHG emissions tCO2e 40,736.61 37,030.85

Intensity tCO2e/employee  
(note 3)

79.56 70.27

3
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3) 2024 12 31 512 2023
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1 – 

1

A.1

2 – 

2
A.2

3 – 

3

A.2

Notes:

1) GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent 
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued 
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council 
for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report – 
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued 
by the Stock Exchange, and the latest released emission factors of 
China’s regional power grid basis.

2) The above emission data does not include the removal of CO2 
contributed by recycling of paper.

3) As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 512 (2023: 527) full-
time employees in total. The data is also used for calculating other 
intensity data.

Scope 1 – Direct emissions

Scope 1 direct emissions are generated from the use of 
the Group’s boilers and motor vehicles. The Group is 
taking the proactive measures to reduce these emissions 
and these measures are set out in the section headed 
“A.1 Emissions” above.

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions

Scope 2 indirect emissions are generated from the 
use of purchased electricity. Measures to reduce these 
emissions are set out in the section headed “A.2 Use of 
resources” below.

Scope 3 – Other indirect emissions

Scope 3 other indirect emissions are generated from 
paper consumption and water consumption. The 
measures to reduce paper and water consumption are 
set out in the section headed “A.2 Use of resources” 
below.
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GHG emissions reduction target

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance, 
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for 
GHG emissions as follows:

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status

    

GHG emissions Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
2027 2% 2022

(iii) Sewage discharge

Sewage is generated during the Group’s dyeing 
process. Sewage is treated and discharged in 
accordance with the Discharge Standard of Water 
Pollutant for Dyeing and Finishing of Textile 
Industry ( ). 
Measures to reduce hazardous substance in the 
sewage generated during the dyeing process are 
set out in the section headed “A.1 Emissions” 
above. The table below sets forth details of the 
Group’s sewage discharge:

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

Sewage discharge Unit Intensity Intensity

    

CODcr Mg/L 19.28 21.99
CODcr
Ammonia nitrogen Mg/L 2.32 2.59

Total nitrogen Mg/L 3.7 3.9

Sewage discharge reduction target

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance, 
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for 
sewage discharge as follows:

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status

    

Sewage discharge Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
2027 2% 2022
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(iv) Hazardous and non-hazardous waste

Hazardous waste of the Group includes waste 
mineral oil, effluent and packaging materials 
contaminated by dye. Non-hazardous waste of the 
Group includes residual coal, sludge, paper and 
packaging materials.

Apart from the above air pollutants and sewage 
treatments, the Group has adopted practices in 
relation to the separation, collection, storage 
and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous 
waste in order to minimise environmental 
impact. In particular, the Group has engaged 
external service providers qualified by the relevant 
environmental authorities of the PRC government 
for (i) purification, transportation and disposal 
of the sludge generated from waste water; and 
(ii) collection and disposal of the residual coal 
produced from coal-burning boiler for further 
recycling purpose.

The Group also adopted certain measures in 
relation to consumption of paper and packaging 
products including:

•  M a k e  u s e  o f  c o m p u t e r  s y s t e m  f o r 
general transaction notification and data 
transmission;

• Use both sides of paper as much as possible;

• Dispose of waste packaging boxes as 
recyclable waste; and

• Increase the use of recycled paper.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group did not receive any complaints or 
warnings on disposal of its hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
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Hazardous and non-hazardous waste reduction 
target

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance, 
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste as follows:

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline year Status

    

Hazardous and  
non-hazardous waste

Reduce 2% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress

2027 2% 2022

The table below sets forth details of hazardous 
and non-hazardous waste of the Group:

Types of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste Unit

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

    

Waste mineral oil tonnes – –

Effluent tonnes 0.38 0.35

Packaging materials contaminated by dye tonnes – –

Residual coal tonnes 703.38 681.53

Sludge tonnes 531.12 501.32

Paper and packaging materials tonnes – –

Total waste tonnes 1,234.88 1,183.20

Intensity tonnes/employee 2.41 2.25
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A.2 Use of resources

The Group strives to minimise the impact of its business 
operations on the environment by adopting measures to 
conserve energy during the manufacturing and dyeing. 
Such measures include practices to limit electricity 
and water wastage, guidelines on permitted usage of 
electronic equipment by employees and utilisation of 
equipment which is energy-efficient.

Energy management

The Group actively implements the concept of energy 
saving, emission reduction, and maintain efficient 
use of resources through following the methods and 
measures for energy saving. Through practicing active 
management control in its operations, the Group strives 
to prevent pollution by using environmentally friendly 
materials, producing green products, and implementing 
technological innovations. The Group has also 
implemented strategies to reduce the consumption of 
petrol and diesel (see section headed “A.1 Emissions”) 
and achieve electricity conservation and efficient 
use of electricity. The strategies to achieve electricity 
conservation and efficient use of electricity are as 
follows:

• Conserve electricity and turn off unnecessary 
lighting power;

• Minimise energy consumption when equipment is 
not in production;

• Avoid premature start-up of equipment and idling 
of equipment; and

• Assure the cooling effect of air conditioning 
equipment by proper maintenance.
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The tab le be low se t s  fo r th deta i l s  o f  energy 
consumption of the Group:

Types of energy consumption Unit

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

    

Direct energy consumption

– Petrol and diesel litre 348,332 48,950
–

Intensity litre/employee 680.34 92.88

Indirect energy consumption

– Purchased electricity kilowatt hours 15,878,222 14,662,020
– 
Intensity kilowatt hours/employee 31,012.15 27,821.67

Water management

The Group consumes water during its production 
process and for office use. In addition to the aforesaid 
measures related to the discharge of sewage, the 
Group also encourages all employees to develop a habit 
of conscious water use and implements the following 
water-saving measures:

• Formulate specific guidelines and measures for 
water conservation based on the characteristics of 
water consumption; and

• Inspect and maintain water storage, distribution, 
and consumption facilities regularly, and promptly 
solve problems identified to prevent wastage of 
water resources.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group did not encounter any issues in water sourcing.
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A.3 

A.1 A.2

A.4 

(i)
(ii)

The table below sets forth details of water consumption 
of the Group:

Unit

For the
year ended

31 December
2024

For the
year ended

31 December
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

    

Water tonnes 434,881 365,579

Intensity tonnes/employee 849.38 693.70

A.3 The environment and natural resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to minimise 
the negative environmental impacts arising from its 
business operations and it is committed to achieving 
the goal of environmental sustainability. The Group 
regularly assesses the environmental risks of its business 
operations, adopts preventive measures to reduce 
risks, and ensures compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations. The significant impact of activities of the 
Group on the environment and the actions taken to 
manage them are detailed in the sections headed “A.1 
Emissions” and “A.2 Use of resources”.

A.4 Climate change

Climate change is one of the greatest threats the 
world has ever faced. The Group acknowledges its 
responsibility to implement strategies to reduce carbon 
emissions and mitigate climate change. Management 
of the Group has set targets to reduce emissions from 
business operations and it also regularly monitors 
and identifies climate change risk that is relevant to 
the Group’s business operations. The climate-related 
risks can be divided into two major categories: (i) risks 
related to the transition to a lower-carbon economy 
and (ii) risks related to the physical impacts of climate 
change.
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(ii) 

2024 12
31

B.

B.1 

(i) Transition risks

Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may 
entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and 
market changes to address mitigation and 
adaptation requirements related to climate 
change. Depending on the nature, speed, and 
focus of these changes, transition risks may 
pose varying levels of financial and reputational 
risk to the Group. Policy actions around climate 
change could continue to evolve. Transition risks 
related to policy change include any risk that the 
environmental laws and regulations in China may 
be amended from time to time and changes in 
those laws and regulations may cause us to incur 
additional costs in order to comply with the more 
stringent rules.

(ii) Physical risks

Physical risks may have financial implications for 
the Group, such as direct damage to assets and 
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption. The 
Group’s financial performance may be affected 
by changes in water availability, sourcing, and 
quality, or extreme temperature changes affecting 
the premises, operations, supply chain, transport 
needs, and employee safety. During the two 
years ended 31 December 2024, the Group did 
not encounter any difficulty in water availability, 
sourcing and quality, and it did not encounter 
any extreme temperature changes affecting the 
premises, operations, supply chain, transport 
needs, and employee safety that materially and 
adversely affecting business operation. The 
management will continue to assess and manage 
the climate-related risks posed to the Group in the 
future.

B. SOCIAL

B.1 Employment and labour practices

Employees are one of the Group’s important assets. The 
Group provides a safe, fair and harmonious working 
environment for its employees. By upholding values of 
trust, respect and compassion, the Group believes that 
it will boost employees’ sense of belonging and retain 
top talents.
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The Group has a recruitment policy in place. New 
employees are recruited according to business needs 
and upon request from relevant departments. The 
Group generally recruits its workforce through online 
platforms, regional job fairs and referrals by existing 
employees. The candidates will be examined based 
on their relevant experiences, skills, knowledge, and 
integrity. According to the recruitment policy, the 
Group encourages its employees to refer potential 
candidates, rewards would be given if the candidates 
are successfully employed.

Each employee of the Group will receive an employee 
handbook which stipulates the rights and obligations 
of them. Basic rules such as dormitory rules, canteen 
management rules, factory access rules and resignation 
procedures will be included in the handbook and allow 
the employees to have constant references.

The Group also regularly reviews and updates its 
employment policy to ensure the applicability of its 
terms and condition and compliance with the latest 
labour laws and regulations. During the two years 
ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied 
with the relevant labour laws and regulations and 
did not experience any significant labour disputes or 
any disruption to business operations due to labour 
disputes. In addition, the Group did not experience 
any difficulties in the recruitment and retention of 
experienced core staff or skilled personnel.

Employee benefits and welfare

The Group’s employees are generally remunerated by 
way of fixed salary. The Group utilises an appraisal 
system for its employees and considers the appraisal 
results of individual employees when conducting their 
salary review and determining the amounts of bonuses. 
The team manager, person-in-charge of the factories 
and human resources department will be responsible 
for conducting performance appraisal. The Group’s 
employees are also entitled to a number of subsidies, 
including but not limited to job-nature based subsidy, 
performance-based bonus, share options and paid 
leave.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group made timely and adequate contributions to social 
insurance and housing provident fund for its qualified 
employees in the PRC; and mandatory provident fund 
for its employees in Hong Kong, in accordance with the 
relevant laws and regulations.
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(i) 

Labour standards

The Group’s recruitment policy sets out its recruitment 
procedures and standard. The Group strictly follows and 
regularly reviews such policy. The Group would carry 
out background checks to authenticate information 
provided by job applicants to confirm that they are 
at least 18 years old. During the two years ended 
31 December 2024, the Group did not have non-
compliance in relation to laws and regulations regarding 
prevention of child and forced labour. The Group also 
ensures that the working hours of its employees are 
reasonable and comply with the relevant laws and 
regulations and its employees would have sufficient rest 
periods.

Equal opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for employees 
in respect of recruitment, job advancement, training 
and development, etc. Employees are not discriminated 
against or deprived of such opportunities on the basis of 
race, nationality, religion, physical condition, disability, 
gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation, polit ical 
status, age and any other discrimination prohibited by 
applicable law. Employees shall not act in discriminatory 
manner or they can be subject to disciplinary actions.

(i) Employee relations

The Directors consider that it is important to 
maintain good relationship with employees. 
The Group maintains regular communications 
with its employees by arranging gatherings, 
celebration activities and trainings. Through these 
activities, the Group would collect feedback 
from its employees on job satisfactions and 
their expectations on the Group and would 
implement appropriate strategies to improve the 
work environment and its relationship with the 
employees.
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(ii) 

(2015)

• 
(i) (ii)

(ii i)
(iv)

• 

• 

(ii) Employee health and safety

The Group’s principal raw materials used in the 
provision of dyeing service are colouring dyes 
and additives. Although they are not hazardous 
chemicals as defined under the Catalog of 
Hazardous Chemicals (2015) 

(2015) ), they can cause accidents and/or 
adverse impact on the environment unless they 
are properly stored and handled. In order to 
ensure the safe storage of the dyes and additives 
and to minimise the risk of the occurrences of 
any accidents, the Group has adopted certain 
measures in relation to the storage and handling 
of dyes and additives including:

• Storage facilities for dyes and additives must 
be (i) in specialised space or storage rooms; 
(ii) managed by designated personnel; (iii) 
labelled clearly; and (iv) kitted with sufficient 
fire safety equipment;

• Personnel and departments which handle 
different dyes and additives must strictly 
comply with the relevant management 
regulations, operational procedures and fire 
safety guidelines; and

• Specialised containers used for the storage 
of dyes and additives must be labelled 
accordingly.

The Group has established a series of safety 
guidelines, rules and procedures for different 
aspects of its production activities, including fire 
safety, operation safety, warehouse safety, work 
related injuries and emergency and evacuation 
procedures to promote occupational health and 
safety and to ensure compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. Also, the Group provides 
suitable and necessary protection equipment 
to its employees, i.e., earplugs, protective suits 
and mask to ensure their safety during work. 
Furthermore, the Group will inspect its production 
facilities from time to time in order to ensure that 
such facilities are safe for use.
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(iii) 

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group complied in all material respects with 
relevant laws and regulations relating to health 
and work safety. The Group was not involved in 
any material violations of health and safety laws 
or regulations and it was not subject to material 
litigations, claims, administrative sanctions or 
penalties with regard to work safety and labour 
related issues. 

Indicator
Unit 2024

2024
2023

2023
2022

2022      

Number of work-related 
 fatalities

 Person 
1 0 0

Fatality rate % 0.2 0 0
Lost days due to work injury Day 0 0 0

(iii)  Development and training

In order to increase the overall competitiveness 
of workforce, the Group strives to ensure that its 
employees are equipped with the required skill 
and safety knowledge when performing their 
duties. It has been the Group’s policy to provide 
all-round training to its employees. Usually it 
includes induction training with regard to factory 
rules, production flow and use of machineries 
which is held by manager or director; on-board 
training on the usage of machines and safety 
procedures required by its experienced senior staff 
for one to two months; and sometimes education 
opportunities depending on the job function of 
the employees.

The Group will also arrange management skills 
training to its potential mid-level staffs to increase 
their ability on management. Newly recruited 
employees are required to attend a safety training 
course so that they can be familiarised with 
the safety standards which they are required to 
meet during production and in their handling of 
production equipment. The Group will also hold 
events occasionally for its employees or allow its 
employees to join the trade fairs or seminars in 
difference provinces or cities, in order for them to 
catch up with market trend.
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Set forth below is the number and percentage 
of training hours completed by the Group’s 
employees by gender and employee category:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Employee category Male Female Total

% of training 
hours by 

employee 
category

Training hours Training hours Training hours

     

Senior management 1,128 117 1,245 6.3%

Middle management 1,055 348 1,403 7.1%

Other employees 9,988 7,176 17,164 86.6%

     

Total 12,171 7,641 19,812 100.0%

     

% of training hours 
by gender 61.4% 38.6% 100.0%
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Employee category Male Female Total

% of training 
hours by 

employee 
category

Training hours Training hours Training hours

     

Senior management 1,043 209 1,252 7.0%

Middle management 1,391 420 1,811 10.1%

Other employees 8,062 6,722 14,784 82.9%

     

Total 10,496 7,351 17,847 100.0%

     

% of training hours 
by gender 58.8% 41.2% 100.0%
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(iv) 

2024 12 31
494 2023 515 18

2023 12

2024 12 31

(iv) Employee distribution

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 494 
(2023: 515) and 18 (2023: 12) full-time employees 
employed for the Group’s business operations 
in the PRC and HK, respectively. The Group had 
no part-time employees. Set forth below are the 
distribution of the Group’s employees as at 31 
December 2024 by gender and age group:

Number of
Employees Percentage

Category    

By gender
Male 279 54%
Female 233 46%

By age groups
30 or below 30 83 16%
31-40 31–40 155 30%
41-50 41–50 166 33%
51 or above 51 108 21%

The table below sets forth the staff turnover rate 
of the Group classified by different categories:

For the 
year ended 

31 December
2024

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2023

Category

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

    

By gender
Male 9% 4%
Female 9% 4%

By age groups
30 or below 30 14% 11%
31-40 31–40 8% 10%
41-50 41–50 2% 10%
51 or above 51 2% 7%

By geographical region
Mainland China 8% 4%
Hong Kong 28% 38%
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(i) 

(i) ISO 
14001 (ii)

Bluesign®
(iii)

OEKO–Tex® 100

B.2 Operating practices

(i) Supply chain management

Most of the Group’s major suppliers are based 
in the PRC. The Group relies on the support 
from a wide variety of suppliers to provide raw 
materials and production equipment to carry out 
its business operations. It is very important for the 
Group to choose its suppliers carefully as such 
decision would directly affect the quality of its 
products and services.

The Group expects its suppliers to uphold the 
environmental, social and governance principles 
that the Group has adopted into the management 
of its business operations. In order to ensure that 
the components and raw materials meet the 
requisite safety and quality standards, the Group 
adopts stringent criteria in supplier selection 
(including but not limited to whether they provide 
high quality raw materials, whether they maintain 
a high standard on environmental protection 
and comply with relevant laws on environmental 
issues, whether price is comparable to market rate 
and location of their factories) and continuously 
monitors existing suppliers on an annual basis, 
based on criteria such as product quality, product 
defect ratio, delivery punctuality ratio and 
responsiveness.

Whether the supplier will continue to be included 
in the Group’s list of approved suppliers depends 
on the marks it achieved under annual evaluation. 
The awareness of environmental protection is 
one of the key criteria for us to evaluate the 
suppliers. The Group highly recognises suppliers 
that can provide international recognitions 
and certificates, including but not limited to 
(i) ISO 14001, recognising the environmental 
management system in place, (ii) Bluesign® 
certificate, recognising textile chemical providers 
and the products are responsible, sustainable and 
is greener textile chemicals for the environment, 
or (iii) Standard 100 of OEKO-Tex® recognition, 
mainly on product safety, which also attest to 
socially and environmentally sound conditions in 
production facilities.
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(i) 80

(ii) 80

80
(iii)

70

If the aggregate marks of the supplier under the 
Group’s annual evaluation (i) equals to or is more 
than 80 marks, then the supplier will remain in our 
list of approved suppliers for the following year; 
(ii) less than 80 marks, the Group would ask the 
suppliers to make corresponding amendments and 
conduct the evaluation again after three months. 
If its marks under the evaluation equals to or is 
more than 80 marks, the supplier will remain in 
the list of approved suppliers for the following 
year; or (iii) equals to or less than 70 marks, the 
supplier will be removed from the list of approved 
suppliers.

The number of  the Group’s  supp l ie r s  by 
geographical locations were as follows:

Geographical locations of the Group’s suppliers Number of suppliers

For the year ended
31 December 2024

2024
12 31  

The PRC 200

Hong Kong 2

Cambodia 1

  

Total 203
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(i)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

GB/T 19001– 
2016/ISO9001:2015

FZ/T 73027–2016

ISO9001:2015
OEKO–TEX® Confidence in Textiles 
STANDARD 100

ISO14001:2015

(ii) Product responsibility

Product assurance and recall

The Group believes that its reputation for product 
quality, timely delivery and customer service has 
contributed significantly to the success of its 
business operations.

The Group adopts strict quality control measures 
which includes four stages, (i) initial quality check 
for raw materials, (ii) checking against prototype 
of greige fabrics according to the specification 
from customers, such as pattern and dimension 
of our lace and obtain approval from customers 
before bulk production; (iii) inspecting finished 
lace against any snagged yarns to ensure the 
number of weaving defects is below the agreed 
level and (iv) conduct various types of test to 
ensure appropriate elasticity of the products. In the 
event of anomalies discovered during inspection, 
the production staff would instantly report to the 
manager of the quality control department or to 
the general manager of the Group, so that the 
problem can be solved as quickly as possible.

The Group is currently using the total quality 
management system which can monitor the 
quality of products in an all-rounded respective. 
The Group’s quality management system complies 
w i th  the s tanda rd o f  GB/T  19001-2016/
ISO9001:2015 Quality Management Systems 
Requirements and the Group was awarded a 
certificate for the design, and production of warp 
knitted lace ( ). Also, the Group fully 
complies with domestic industry standards such as 
FZ/T 73027- 2016 Textile Industry Standard (Warp 
Knitted Lace) of the PRC* (

( )). The Group has also 
been accredited with, among others, ISO 
9001:2015 for quality management system for its 
design and production of lace and OEKO-TEX® 
Confidence in Textiles STANDARD 100, which 
shows that the quality of the Group’s products 
can meet the international stringent requirements 
on product safety. In respect of dyeing services, 
the Group has obtained ISO14001:2015 for its 
environmental management system.

* For identification purpose only
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The Group also implements a series of repair and 
maintenance procedures of its machinery and 
equipment. The production team conducts basic 
routine checks on machinery and equipment 
regularly and detailed checks annually. The 
production team maintains detailed record on 
repair and maintenance work and the Group has 
its our own hardware warehouse to increase the 
efficiency of repairing.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group did not have material non-compliance 
with laws and regulations in relation to product 
safety and receive any product return request, nor 
had it received any complaint from its customers 
on the quality of products, and no customers 
made any material warranty claims against the 
Group.

Intellectual property rights and privacy protection

To protect its intellectual property rights, the 
Group has entered into confidentiality and 
non-compete agreements with members of 
senior management, employees of the design 
and development team and technical support 
team and/or other employees who have access 
to secrets or confidential information of the 
Group. The confidentiality and non-compete 
agreements prohibit such members of senior 
management and/or the relevant employees from 
(i) disclosing confidential information of the Group 
such as technology know-how and trade secrets 
acquired or generated during the course of their 
employment with the Group; and (ii) engaging 
in activities and/or business that may potentially 
compete with the Group.

The Group has also established appropriate 
guidelines for its employees to regulate the use 
of personal information, safeguard confidential 
information and avoid leakage of customers’ and 
suppliers’ privacy.

During the two years ended 31 December 
2024, the Group was not aware of any material 
infringement of any intellectual property rights nor 
material breach of data privacy.

2024 12 31

(i)

(ii)

2024 12 31
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(iii) Anti-fraud and anti-corruption

The Group has implemented guides, policies 
and procedures regarding anti-fraud and anti-
corruption for its employees to follow. A reporting 
mechanism is in place for any fraud/corruption 
or suspected fraudulent/corruption behaviour. 
Any contravention to these guides and policies 
identified with solid evidence, the Group will 
terminate the engagement with the contravened 
parties immediately and if needed, report to 
relevant regulatory authorities. The Group also 
provides trainings to its employees from time to 
time to ensure that they comply and familiar with 
the guides, policies and procedures regarding anti-
fraud and anti-corruption.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group complied with all applicable laws on 
prohibiting corruption and bribery and there 
was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt 
practices brought against the Group or its 
employees.

Whistleblowing policy

The Group has implemented whistleblowing 
policy to provide a well-defined and accessible 
channel for reporting fraud, corruption, dishonest 
practices, or other similar matters and guidance 
on how an investigation would be initiated upon 
receiving a complaint. The policy also protects 
employees who report fraudulent activities in good 
faith and reasonable belief. A whistleblowing 
officer is elected to ensure that any reported case 
is dealt with in an expedited manner.

Upon receiving the complaint, the Board decides 
the method of investigation, which may involve 
appointing an external consultant for assessment. 
The  Boa rd  w i l l  mon i t o r  and  r e v i ew the 
effectiveness of the whistleblowing policy from 
time to time.

(iii) 

2024 12 31
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B.3 Community investment

The Group acknowledges corporate social responsibility 
and allocates resources to satisfy the needs of the 
community. In achieving its social corporate goal in 
volunteering in the community, the Group has actively 
endeavoured in funding the development of less 
developed cities in the PRC by making donations to 
various charitable organisations occasionally.

During the two years ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group focused on environmental protection as well 
as cultural and sport promotion. Going forward, 
the Group will continue to focus on community 
needs and increase its investment in community. The 
Group has contributed a reasonable amount of time 
to environmental protection and cultural and sport 
promotion.

B.3 

2024 12 31
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the 
Company the annual report and the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 
exempted company with limited liability on 4 January 2019. The 
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange on 13 January 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group 
provides dyeing services, sale and manufacture of lace as well as 
sales of footwear product to its customers. Details of the principal 
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FUTURE PROSPECT AND 
DEVELOPMENT

The review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2024 and the discussion on the Group’s future business 
development are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s 
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this 
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISK FACTORS AND 
UNCERTAINTIES

The following sets out the principal risks and uncertainties 
encountered by the Group in its business operations:

The Group as a dyeing service provider has been categorised 
as one of the heavily polluting industries. Any failure to 
comply with environmental regulations would expose the 
Group to penalties, fines, suspensions or actions in other 
forms.

The Group’s business of providing dyeing services has been 
categorised as one of the heavily polluting industries and its 
operations are subjected to the environmental protection laws 
and regulations promulgated by the PRC government authorities. 
These laws and regulations require the Group to adopt effective 
measures to control and properly dispose of waste water and 
other environmental pollutants. The Group could be exposed to 
penalties, fines, suspensions or actions in other forms if we fail to 
comply with these laws and regulations.

2024 12 31

2019 1 4
2021 1 13

13

 

2024 12 31
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69.4% 88.3% 2023 80.3%
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38.1%

2023 31.8% 59.0%(2023
67.5%

The Group derives a significant portion of revenue from 
several major customers . Failure to retain business 
relationships with existing customers or secure new 
business may materially affect the Group’s results and 
financial performance.

The Group’s revenue is concentrated in several major customers. 
The Group mainly provides lace manufacture, dyeing services 
and footwear business on an order-by-order basis, there is no 
assurance that our business relationship with our customers 
will continue in the future. The Group’s results of operations, 
profitability and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected 
if it is unable to secure new orders from existing customers or 
fail to procure similar level of business from new customers on 
comparable commercial terms to offset the loss of revenue from 
existing customers.

The Group’s business depends on a stable and adequate 
supply of raw materials and the Group does not enter into 
any long-term agreements with suppliers, fluctuation in the 
price of raw materials may affect the Group’s cost of sales 
and adversely affect business operation and profitability.

Since the Group does not enter into any long-term agreement 
with its raw material suppliers, if any interruption, reduction or 
termination of the supply of raw materials occurs, or the price of 
the raw material increase due to an increase in demand, the Group 
has to bear the risk of such fluctuations and may not be able to 
shift such risk to its customers.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE 
REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events which would have a material effect 
on the Group after the balance sheet date and up to the date of 
this report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group’s 
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for 
approximately 77.8% (2023: approximately 69.4%) and 
approximately 88.3% (2023: approximately 80.3%) of the total 
revenue, respectively.

Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest 
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2024 accounted 
for approximately 38.1% (2023: approximately 31.8%) and 
approximately 59.0% (2023: approximately 67.5%) of the total 
purchases, respectively.
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None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close 
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of 
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share 
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest 
customers or suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2024.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, 
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationships with employees, 
customers and suppliers by making frequent communications with 
them to understand their needs. The Group provides safe work 
environment, competitive remuneration, good welfare benefits 
and continuous training for its employees. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, there were no material disputes between the 
Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge 
of the Directors, the Group has complied with all the relevant 
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group. 
The Group also complied with (i) the requirements under the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) for the disclosure 
of information and corporate governance; and (ii) the ordinances 
relating to occupational safety for the interest of its employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting 
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment 
and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. 
Details of such are set out in the section headed “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in 
the financial statements on pages 109 to 112. The Directors do 
not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2024 (2023: nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 are set 
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the 
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in 
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during 
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 23 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2024,  the Group had bor rowings o f 
approximately RMB52.3 million (2023: RMB36.9 million).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any 
assets pledged as securities.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of determining the shareholders’ eligibility to 
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to 
be held on 23 May 2025 (Friday), the register of members of 
the Company will be closed from 20 May 2025 (Tuesday) to 23 
May 2025 (Friday), both days inclusive. The latest time to lodge 
transfer documents for registration will be at 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 
2025 (Monday). During the above closure period, no transfer of 
shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfers accompanied 
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be 
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 
1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2025 
(Monday).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or 
the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to 
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF 
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company 
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 
31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity of this annual report. The distributable reserves 
of the Company are set out in note 36(a) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available 
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s 
securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made donations of approximately RMB1,824,000 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB100,000).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no contracts 
concerning the management and administration of the whole 
or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its 
subsidiaries were entered into or existed.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section 
headed “Five-Year Financial Summary” of this annual report. This 
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial 
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 
2024 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (Chairman)
Mr. Lin Minqiang
Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin
Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chow Kit Ting
Dr. Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin
Mr. Chan Hoi Shan (resigned on 30 September 2024)
Mr. Mak Ming Hoi (appointed on 30 September 2024)

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Larry Stuart Torchin, Mr. Chow 
Kit Ting and Mr. Mak Ming Hoi will retire and, being eligible, will 
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the members of the Board and relationship 
between members of the Board are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this 
annual report.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Group’s employee benefit expenses and manpower 
service expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 (including 
the emoluments of the Directors and senior management and the 
five highest paid individuals of the Group) are set out in note 9 to 
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The 
emoluments payable to the Directors are determined according 
to various factors, including but not limited to their performance, 
market conditions and the financial conditions of the Group. 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Directors have 
waived any emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

During the Reporting Period, each of the executive Directors has 
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial 
term of 3 years from the  effective date of appointment, renewable 
for another 3 years upon expiry, subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with 
the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a 
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of 
3 years from the effective date of appointment, renewable for 
another 3 years upon expiry, subject to retirement by rotation and 
re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the 
Articles.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be 
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or 
liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Laws of 
the Cayman Islands) which he/she may sustain or incur in or about 
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation 
thereto.
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(i)  

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 December 2024, interests and short positions of the 
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO), which have been notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests and short positions which were taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or have been 
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code 
are as follows:

(i) Interest in the ordinary shares of the 
Company

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest

Number of
shares held 

(Note 1)

Percentage of 
shareholding in 

the Company 
(Approximate)

( 1) ( )    

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 
and beneficial owner

388,500,000 (L) 30.83%

( 2)

Mr. Lin Minqiang (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation and 
interest held jointly with other persons

50,400,000 (L) 4.00%

( 3)

Ms. Tsoi Lam Ki Beneficial owner 2,735,000 (L) 0.22%
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(ii) Interest in the ordinary shares of an 
associated corporation

Name of Director
Name of associated
corporation

Capacity/nature
of interest

Number of
shares held

(Note 1)

Percentage of
shareholding in

the associated
corporation

(Approximate)

( 1) ( )     

Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing Glorious Way Investments 
Limited (“Glorious Way”)

Beneficial owner 1(L) 100%

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long position of the shares.

2. Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing (i) directly and beneficially holds 1.98% of 
the shares of the Company; and (ii) beneficially owns 100% of 
the issued shares of Glorious Way, which in turn holds 28.85% 
of the shares of the Company. Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is a director 
of Glorious Way. Therefore, Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is deemed, 
or taken to be interested in the shares of the Company held 
by Glorious Way for the purpose of the SFO and in aggregate 
holds 30.83% of the shares of the Company.

3. These shares are held by Deyong Investment Co., Ltd (“Deyong 
Investment”). Deyong Investment is an investment holding 
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) 
and is owned by Mr. Lin Minqiang, as to 60%. Mr. Lin 
Minqiang is a director of Deyong Investment. Therefore, Mr. Lin 
Minqiang is deemed, or taken, to be interested in the shares of 
the Company held by Deyong Investment for the purposes of 
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of 
the Company had registered any interests or short positions in any 
shares and underlying shares in, and debentures of, the Company 
or any associated corporations at 31 December 2024, as recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to 
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the 
Model Code.



91應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Directors’ Report
董事會報告

 

2024 12 31

 
 

2024 12 31

5%
XV 2 3

336

1. L

2. 

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report 
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director of 
the Company or their respective spouses or minor children, or were 
such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding 
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements 
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including 
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors, at 31 December 2024, the 
following corporation/persons (other than the interests of the 
Directors or chief executives of the Company as disclosed above) 
had interests of 5% or more in the issued shares which fall to 
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to 
section 336 of the SFO:

Name Capacity/nature of interest 

Number of 
shares held 

(Note 1) 

Percentage of 
shareholding in 

the Company 
(Approximate) 

( 1) ( )    

Glorious Way (Note 2) Beneficial owner 363,500,000 (L) 28.85%
2 363,500,000 (L) 28.85%

Ms. Wu Chor Har (Note 3) Interest of spouse 388,500,000 (L) 30.83%
3 388,500,000 (L) 30.83%

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long position of the shares.

2. Glorious Way is an investment holding company incorporated in the 
BVI and is wholly owned by Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing.
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3. Ms. Wu Chor Har is the spouse of Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing. Therefore, 
Ms. Wu Chor Har is deemed to be, or taken to be, interested in the 
shares of the Company which Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing is interested in for 
the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, the Company has 
not been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions 
in the issued share capital of the Company which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the 
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the contracts as set out under the section headed 
“Connected Transactions” contained in this annual report, no 
Director or his/her connected entity has or had a material interest, 
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or 
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party subsisting during 
or at the end of the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH 
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save for the contracts as set out under the section headed 
“Connected Transactions” contained in this annual report, no 
contract of significance was entered into between the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any 
of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the 
end of the Reporting Period and no contract of significance for 
the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered 
into during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the 
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING 
BUSINESS

None of the Directors, controlling shareholders or any of their 
respective associates has engaged in or has any interest in any 
business that competes or may compete with the business of the 
Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the Group during 
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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1.00

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the 
“Share Option Scheme”) on 16 December 2020 (the “Adoption 
Date”), which become effective on 13 January 2021.

(i) Purpose of Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and 
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional 
incentive to eligible participants; and to promote the success 
of the business of the Group.

(ii) Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms 
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part- 
time), Director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any 
substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, 
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or 
service provider of the Group, options to subscribe at a 
price calculated in accordance with paragraph (iii) below for 
such number of shares as it may determine in accordance 
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. The basis of 
eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall 
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the 
independent non- executive Directors) from time to time on 
the basis of his/her contribution or potential contribution to 
the development and growth of the Group.

(iii) Exercise price of share option

The exercise price of share option granted under the Share 
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the 
Board and shall be at least highest of: (i) the closing price of 
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the average 
of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and 
(iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the 
option.

(iv) Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was 
made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to 
our Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an 
option is HKD1.00.
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(v) Maximum number of shares that may be 
issued

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon 
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of our Company must not exceed 30% 
of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be 
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share 
option schemes of our Company if this will result in such 
30% limit being exceeded.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option 
Scheme, the maximum numbers of shares in respect of which 
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and 
any other schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of 
the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 126,000,000 
shares) unless approved by the shareholders of the Company.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at any 
time by obtaining approval of the Company’s shareholders 
in general meeting provided that the total number of 
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to 
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed 
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or 
any other share option schemes of the Company) will not be 
counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10% 
limit. A circular must be sent to the Company’s shareholders 
containing the information as required under the Listing 
Rules in this regard.

(vi) Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in general 
meeting in the manner stipulated in the Listing Rules, the 
maximum entitlement for each eligible participant (including 
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Share 
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the 
Company in any 12-month period up to the date of grant 
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.
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(vii) Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms 
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as 
the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years 
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early 
termination thereof.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire 
at the close of business on the business day immediately 
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated 
earlier by our Shareholders in general meeting. At 31 
December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option 
Scheme is approximately five years and 11.5 months.

For further details on the principal terms of the Share Option 
Scheme, please refer to Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

As of 31 December 2024 and the date of this annual report, 
no share options had been granted or agreed to be granted 
under the Share Option Scheme. As a result, the total 
number of shares available for issue under the Share Option 
Scheme as of 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 was 
126,000,000, representing 10% of the issued share capital 
of the Company as of the Adoption Date.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The connected transactions or continuing connected transactions 
related to office rental payments of the Group under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules entered by the Group with World Mart Limited 
( ), during the Reporting Period with a term of one 
year, were exempted from reporting, disclosure and independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. 
Details were disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10 
July 2023, 31 July 2023, 14 August 2023 and the circular of the 
Company dated 17 August 2023, the Company entered into the 
framework agreement (“Framework Agreement”) with Mr. Tsoi, 
pursuant to which Mr. Tsoi’s associated companies (“Associated 
Companies”) shall manufacture and supply various footwear 
to the Group (“Continuing Connected Transactions”). The 
transaction contemplated under the Framework Agreement 
was subsequently approved by the independent Shareholders 
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 4 
September 2023.
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The annual caps in respect of the purchase under the Framework 
Agreement were set at HK$78.2 million, HK$164.2 million 
and HK$172.5 million for the period from six months ending 
31 December 2023, each of the two financial years ending 31 
December 2024 and 2025 respectively. The aggregate amounts 
for the purchase amount under the Framework Agreement to 
Associated Companies during the year ended 31 December 2024 
was HK$109,344,000 which did not exceed the annual cap of 
HK$164.2 million as set for such financial year.

Since Mr. Tsoi is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and the 
Associated Companies are all associates of Mr. Tsoi, each of Mr. 
Tsoi and the Associated Companies is a connected person of the 
Company and the transactions contemplated under the Framework 
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the 
Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transactions 
contemplated under the Framework Agreement are subject to 
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent 
non-executive Directors have reviewed the Continuing Connected 
Transactions and have confirmed that the Continuing Connected 
Transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the relevant agreements governing them on 
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of 
the shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged 
the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon 
procedures in respect of the above Continuing Connected 
Transactions and the auditor has reported its conclusion on 
these procedures to the Board, confirming the matters set out 
in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor of the Company 
was engaged to report on the above Continuing Connected 
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements 
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” 
and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter 
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong 
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Other than the Continuing 
Connected Transactions mentioned above, none of these related 
party transactions are connected transactions which are subject 
to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval 
requirements under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, 
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set 
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this 
annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements 
were entered into by the Company during the year ended 
31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at 10 April 
2025, the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, 
the Company has maintained the public float as required under 
the Listing Rules.

REVIEW OF AUDITED ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ 
securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed that, following 
specific enquiry by the Company, they have complied with the 
required standards set out in the Model Code during the Reporting 
Period.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM IPO

Details of the use of the proceeds from IPO are set out on page 17 
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditor of the Company 
and Forvis Mazars CPA Limited was appointed as auditor of the 
Company to fill the casual vacancy, both with effect from 4 
December 2023. 

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in the 
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 were audited by Forvis Mazars CPA 
Limited. Forvis Mazars CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for 
re-appointment of Forvis Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the 
Company will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board
Star Shine Holdings Group Limited
Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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To the members of
STAR SHINE HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Star Shine 
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), set out on pages 109 to 208, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2024, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 
December 2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition for manufacturing of lace, provision of dyeing services and sales of footwear

Refer to Notes 2, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
2 4 5

The Group enters into services/sales agreement with each customer 
for the manufacturing of lace, provision of dyeing services and 
sales of footwear and generated revenue of approximately 
RMB584,541,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2024 12 31  
584,541,000

The Group recognises revenue from manufacturing of lace and 
provision of dyeing services over the period of the contract using 
the input method. For contracts in progress at the end of the 
reporting period, the Group applies a percentage of completion 
to the contracted price and the percentage is determined with 
reference to the actual costs incurred and the total estimated costs 
on completion for the services.

 

The Group recognises revenue from sales of footwear at a point in 
time when the control of the products has transferred, being when 
the Group has delivered the products to the customers, and the 
customers have full discretion over the products.

 

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

(a) obtaining an understanding of and assessing 
the design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal 
controls in relation to the revenue recognition;

(a)  

(b) discussing with the management of the 
Group and evaluating whether the method, 
a s s u m p t i o n s  a n d  i n p u t s  u s e d  b y  t h e 
management of the Group to estimate revenue 
in relation to contracts in progress at the end 
of the reporting period is reasonable;

(b)   

(c) assessing the management’s identification of 
performance obligations and the recognition 
of revenue by inspecting the key customers 
c o n t r a c t s  a n d  w i t h  r e f e r e n c e  t o  o u r 
understanding of the Group’s business;

(c)  
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition for manufacturing of lace, provision of dyeing services and sales of footwear (Continued)

Refer to Notes 2, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)
2 4 5

We identified this area as a key audit matter due to the magnitude 
of revenue transactions occurred and revenue is one of the key 
performance indicators of the Group and may be subject to risk of 
manipulation by management/employee to achieve expectations or 
targets.

 

(d) testing, on a sample basis, revenue transactions 
recorded during the reporting period to 
under ly ing support ing documents, e.g. 
customers contracts, delivery documents and/
or customers’ acknowledgement of sales;

(d) 

(e) in respect of revenue from manufacturing of 
lace and provision of dyeing services, testing, 
on a sample basis, the actual costs incurred 
including direct material costs, direct labour 
costs and overhead costs to underly ing 
supporting documents and checking the 
calculation of the revenue recognised based on 
the contracted prices and the total estimated 
cost on completion; and

(e) 

(f) in respect of revenue from sales of footwear, 
testing, on a sample basis, revenue transactions 
from sales of footwear recorded before and 
after the end of the reporting period to delivery 
documents, e.g. delivery notes and shipping 
documents to determine whether revenue from 
the sales of footwear had been recognised in 
the appropriate reporting period.

(f) 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit loss (“ECL”) assessment of contract assets, trade and bills receivables

Refer to Notes 2, 3, 4 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
2 3 4 20

At 31 December 2024, the net carrying amounts of contract assets, 
trade and bill receivables were approximately RMB4,677,000 and 
RMB72,004,000, respectively (after the loss allowance for ECL of 
approximately RMB47,000 and RMB2,343,000, respectively).

2024 12 31
4,677,000 72,004,000

47,000
2,343,000

The management of the Group applied the simplified approach 
in accordance with HKFRS 9 to measure ECL which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all contract assets, trade and bills 
receivables. In measuring the ECL rates, the management of the 
Group assesses whether there are any significant changes in 
payment profiles and risk of default, and takes into consideration 
the current and forward-looking information, to adjust the ECL 
rates.

9 

 

We identified the impairment assessment of contract assets, trade 
and bills receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance 
of the amounts involved, and the use of judgement and estimation 
made by the management of the Group.

 

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

(a) obtaining an understanding of the Group’s 
internal control and assessment processes for 
ECL assessment of contract assets, trade and 
bills receivables;

(a)  

(b) assessing the reasonableness of the ECL 
methodology and the use of forward-looking 
information applied by the management of the 
Group in determining the loss allowance for 
ECL;

(b)  

(c) testing and assessing, on a sample basis, 
whether the loss allowance for ECL was 
properly supported by considering the debtors’ 
ageing analysis, sett lement records and 
available forward-looking information; and

(c) 

(d) considering the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosure in respect of the impairment 
assessment.

(d)  
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Refer to Notes 2, 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
2 4 14

At 31 December 2024, the net carrying amounts of property, plant 
and equipment of approximately RMB110,218,000 and right-of-
use assets of approximately RMB8,738,000, respectively, which 
represented about 78.4% of the total non-current assets of the 
Group.

2024 12 31
110,218,000 8,738,000

78.4%

In view of the business performance fell below management’s 
expectation in respect of the manufacturing of lace and provision 
of dyeing services (the “Lace and Dyeing Business”) during 
the current period, the management of the Group identified 
the existence of an impairment indication on the property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Lace and Dyeing 
Business (the “Non-current Assets”). The management of the 
Group engaged an independent professional valuer to assess the 
recoverable amount of the Non-current Assets, which is determined 
based on the value-in-use of the Lace and Dyeing Business to 
which the Non-current Assets relate. The impairment assessment 
involves the management’s estimates in certain areas including the 
discount rate and the underlying cash flow projection based on the 
future market supply and demand conditions. Any changes in the 
management’s estimates may result in significant financial impact to 
the Group.

 

 

 

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

(a) inquiring the management of the Group and 
understanding the internal control on their 
determination of impairment indications 
and their method used for the impairment 
assessment;

(a)  

(b) comparing cash flow projection to supporting 
evidence, such as approved budgets, and 
evaluating the reasonableness of these budgets 
with reference to the past performance and 
our knowledge of the business;

(b) 

(c) performing a sensitivity analysis for the key 
assumptions, such as projected revenue and 
evaluating the reasonableness of key inputs 
and assumptions used by the management of 
the Group, including discount rate;

(c) 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)
( )

Refer to Notes 2, 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)
2 4 14 ( )

As set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the management of the Group concluded that the recoverable 
amount of the Lace and Dyeing Business was lower than the 
carrying amount of the Non-current Assets and impairment loss of 
approximately RMB1,642,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

14  
2024 

12 31 1,642,000

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter due to 
the significance of balance, combined with the judgements and 
estimations involved in the management’s impairment assessment.

(d) evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the independent professional 
valuer;

(d) 

(e) understanding the independent professional 
va luer ’s  methodo logy adopted on the 
estimation of recoverable amount and the key 
inputs used, and assessing whether they are 
reasonable and supportable;

(e) 

(f) a s s e s s i n g  t h e  r e a s o n a b l e n e s s  o f  t h e 
management’s impairment assessment in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
prevailing accounting standards; and

(f) 

(g) considering the adequacy of the Group’s 
disc losure in the consol idated f inancial 
statements.

(g)  
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises al l of the 
information included in this annual report but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued 
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors of the Company  determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.
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• 

• 
 

•  

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is 
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.



107應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

Independent Auditor’s Report
獨立核數師報告

 

• 

 

 

• 

•  

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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2025 3 28

P08281

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditor’s report is:

Lam Kwok Sun
Practising Certificate number: P08281
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

     

Revenue 5 584,541 317,353
Cost of sales (527,047) (293,507)  

Gross profit 57,494 23,846

Other income 7 1,797 4,401
Other gains, net 8 2,096 2,457
Selling and distribution expenses 6 (34,175) (16,160)
Administrative expenses 6 (39,525) (17,782)
Net reversal of loss allowance on 
 financial assets and contract assets  6 1,034 1
Impairment loss on property, plant
 and equipment  14 (1,642) (7,382)  

Operating loss (12,921) (10,619)  

Finance income 10 2,757 2,306

Finance costs 10 (2,599) (352)  

Finance income, net 158 1,954  

Loss before income tax (12,763) (8,665)  

Income tax credit/(expenses) 11 10 (1,426)  

Loss for the year attributable
 to owners of the Company  (12,753) (10,091)

  

Loss per share attributable
 to owners of the Company  
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) 12 (1.01) (0.80)
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Loss for the year (12,753) (10,091)

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
 – Exchange differences on translation of
   foreign operations

 
   547 77  
 

Total comprehensive loss for the year
 attributable to owners of the Company  (12,206) (10,014)
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 110,218 122,014
Right-of-use assets 14 8,738 6,326
Intangible assets 15 424 452 
Interest in a joint venture 16 32,410 –

Prepayments 18 – 121

151,790 128,913

Current assets
Inventories 19 5,292 6,301
Contract assets 20 4,677 6,854
Trade and bills receivables 20 72,004 78,185
Prepayments, deposits and
 other receivables  18 19,132 2,944
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVPL”)
 

  
 21 8,006 –

Cash and cash equivalents 22 231,939 268,978

341,050 363,262

Total assets 492,840 492,175

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of
 the Company
Share capital 23 10,511 10,511
Reserves 24 293,167 305,373

Total equity 303,678 315,884
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

     

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 25 1,321 1,373
Lease liabilities 26 4,525 2,528
Deferred tax liabilities 28 550 532  

6,396 4,433  

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables 29 109,569 108,793
Other payables and accruals 25 13,405 19,877
Contract liabilities 25 1,147 220
Interest-bearing borrowing 27 – 33,440
Lease liabilities 26 1,980 1,355
Loans from ultimate holding company 30 52,349 3,411
Current income tax liabilities 4,316 4,762  

182,766 171,858  

Total liabilities 189,162 176,291  

Total equity and liabilities 492,840 492,175
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 208 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by

Tsoi Wing Sing Tsoi Lam Ki

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company

      
Share

capital
Share

premium
Other

reserves
Statutory

reserve
Exchange

reserve
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

(Note 23) (Note 24(a)) (Note 24(b)) (Note 24(c)) (Note 24(d))
23 24(a) 24(b) 24(c) 24(d)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

Balance at 1 January 2024 2024 1 1 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 189 101,615 315,884

Loss for the year – – – – – (12,753) (12,753)
Other comprehensive income – – – – 547 – 547       

Total comprehensive loss – – – – 547 (12,753) (12,206)       

Balance at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 736 88,862 303,678
       

Balance at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 112 111,706 325,898
Loss for the year – – – – – (10,091) (10,091)
Other comprehensive income – – – – 77 – 77       

Total comprehensive loss – – – – 77 (10,091) (10,014)       

Balance at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 10,511 80,081 104,466 19,022 189 101,615 315,884
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

     

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 32(a) (9,405) 45,794
Income tax paid (418) (1,634)
Interest received 2,757 2,306  

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
 operating activities  (7,066) 46,466  

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and 
 equipment (1,534) (1,453)
Purchase of intangible assets (130) (72)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL

 (16,000) –

Proceeds from disposal of 
 financial assets at FVPL  8,000 –

Loan to a joint venture (32,410) –

Prepayment for purchase of property,
 plant and equipment  – (96)  

Net cash used in investing activities (42,074) (1,621)  

Cash flows from financing activities
Inception of borrowings 32(c) – 33,440
Repayments of borrowings 32(c) (33,440) –

Inception of loans from ultimate holding
 company 32(c) 48,583 3,411
Repayment of lease liabilities 32(c) (1,547) (416)
Interest paid (2,044) (290)  

Net cash generated from financing 
 activities  11,552 36,145  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash  
 and cash equivalents  (37,588) 80,990

Cash and cash equivalents at
 beginning of the reporting period  268,978 187,910

Effect on exchange rate changes 549 78  

Cash and cash equivalents at
 end of the reporting period,
 represented by bank balances
 and cash

 
 

22 231,939 268,978
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Star Shine Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 January 2019 
as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Law Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and 
revised of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is 71 Fort Street, P.O. Box 500, George 
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The 
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is 
principally engaged in (i) manufacturing of lace and provision 
of dyeing services; and (ii) footwear business. The principal 
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the 
ultimate holding company of the Company is Glorious 
Way Investments Limited (“Glorious Way”), a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate 
controlling shareholder is Mr. Tsoi Wing Sing.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Renminbi (“RMB”), and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand (“RMB’000”), unless otherwise indicated.

2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards, which collective term includes all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 
The consolidated financial statements also comply 
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). 
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for the financial assets at FVPL, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

1 

2019 1
4 1961

71 
Fort Street, P.O. Box 500, George Town, Grand 
Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands

(i)
(ii)

13

2 

2.1 
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting 
policies adopted in the 2023 consolidated financial 
statements. The adoption of the new/revised HKFRS 
Accounting Standards that are relevant to the Group 
and effective from the current year had no significant 
effects on the results and financial position of the 
Group.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting 
Standards

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following 
new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 
relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HK 
 Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements 
– Classification by the Borrower 
of a Term Loan that Contains a 
Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 
 and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

2  

2.1 

2023

 
1

 
1

5  

7

7

16
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued) 

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in 
applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial 
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain 
settlement date should be classified as current (due 
or potentially due to be settled within one year) or 
non-current. The amendments include clarifying the 
classification requirements for debt a company might 
settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the above amendments of this 
interpretation does not have any significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements .

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be 
complied with after the reporting date do not affect 
the classification of debt as current or non-current at 
the reporting date. Instead, the amendments require a 
company to disclose information about these covenants 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5: Presentation of 
Financial Statements – Classification by the Borrower 
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand 
Clause

This Interpretation is revised as a consequence of 
the above Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the 
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

The adoption of the above amendments of this 
interpretation does not have any significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier Finance 
Arrangements

T h e  a m e n d m e n t s  i n t r o d u c e  n e w d i s c l o s u r e 
requirements to enhance the transparency of supplier 
finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s 
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently 
determine lease payments arising from a sale and 
leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any 
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of 
use it retains. The new requirements do not prevent a 
seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss any gain 
or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a 
lease.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have 
any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured 
entity) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They 
are deconsolidated from the date that control 
ceases.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for 
by the Company at cost less impairment. Cost 
includes direct attributable costs of investment. 
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 
Company on the basis of dividends received and 
receivable.

Impairment test ing of the investments in 
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend 
from these investments if the dividend exceeds 
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary 
in the period the dividend is declared or if the 
carrying amount of the investment in the separate 
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount 
in the consolidated financial statements of the 
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.3 Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the 
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. A joint 
arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more 
parties have joint control. Joint control is a contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control. The Group reassesses whether it has joint 
control of an arrangement and whether the type of 
joint arrangement in which it is involved has changed, if 
facts and circumstances change.

The Group’s investment in joint venture is accounted 
for under the equity method of accounting, except 
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified as 
held for sale. Under the equity method, the investment 
is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter 
for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share 
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss 
relating to the investment. Except to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses 
when the Group’s share of losses of the investee equals 
or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the 
investee, which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in 
the investee.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operat ing segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The 
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing the performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the executive directors of the 
Company who make strategic decisions.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

2.5.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each 
of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). These consol idated f inanc ia l 
statements are presented in RMB, which is the 
Company’s functional currency and the Group’s 
presentation currency.

2.5.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transaction. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at period-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are generally recognised in 
profit or loss and presented in the consolidated 
income statement on a net basis within “Other 
gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as 
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets 
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit 
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets 
such as equities held at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.5.3 Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group 
entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

• assets and liabilities for each statement of 
financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement 
of financial position;

• income and expenses for each income 
statement and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of 
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of the 
transactions); and

• al l result ing exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising 
from the translation of any net investment 
in fore ign operat ions are taken to other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation 
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net 
investment are repaid, the associated exchange 
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part 
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from 
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.



123應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

For the year ended 31 December 2024 截至2024年12月31日止年度

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

2 

2.6 

 
 
5 15
5
10

2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction 
in progress, are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment loss. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the asset will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their costs, net of their residual value, over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings Shorter of estimated useful 
lives or remaining lease 
terms

Plant and machinery 5 to 15 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
recognised in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated 
income statement.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 
(Continued)

Construction-in-progress (the “CIP”) represents 
property and plant under construction and is stated 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition 
and capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for 
depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the 
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended 
use. When the assets concerned are available for 
use, the costs are transferred to relevant categories 
of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in 
accordance with the policy as stated above.

2.7 Intangible assets

Software

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software. Computer software is 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment, if any. These costs are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives of 5 years.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value-in-use (“VIU”). For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date.

2.9 Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when 
(i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows 
from the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers 
the financial asset and either (a) the Group transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset, or (b) the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain 
control of the financial asset.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
the financial asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a 
significant financing component) are initially recognised 
at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
not carried at financial assets at FVPL, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially 
measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as 
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income; or (iv) 
measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless 
the Group changes its business model for managing 
them, in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting 
period, following the change in the business model.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it 
meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from 
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation 
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include  
loan to a joint venture, contract assets, trade and bills 
receivables, other receivables and cash on hand and 
banks.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets measured at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are 
not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including 
financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL, financial 
assets resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement in a business combination to which 
HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that are otherwise 
required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at 
fair value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised 
in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in 
the near term;

(ii) part of a portfo l io of ident i f ied f inanc ia l 
instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; 
and

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee 
contract or not a designated and effective hedging 
instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition 
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on 
different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatory measured at 
FVPL include the financial products issued by banks.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are 
measured at amortised cost and contract assets to 
which the impairment requirements apply in accordance 
with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as 
detailed before, at each reporting date, the Group 
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an 
amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on 
that financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group measures the loss allowance for that 
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses 
(i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the 
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of 
the difference between the contractual cash flows that 
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash 
flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from 
all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents 
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 
from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the 
financial instruments are grouped based on the past 
due information or other credit risk characteristics.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets 
(Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an 
event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that the 
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets 
any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained 
from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, 
in full (without taking into account any collaterals 
held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the 
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers 
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate that a 
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort. Irrespective 
of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group 
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, except for which the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets 
(Continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit 
risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; 
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business 
conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the debtor to 
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

All financial assets, except for contract assets, trade and 
bills receivables and other receivables, are determined 
to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For contract assets and trade and bills receivables, 
the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating 
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on 
lifetime ECL at each reporting date and had established 
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets 
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower 
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at 
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit 
losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group 
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety 
or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant 
recovery from the amount written off. However, 
financial assets that are written off could still be subject 
to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures 
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account 
legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.11 Trade, bills and other receivables

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from 
customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade, bills 
and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or 
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), 
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are 
presented as non-current assets.

Trade, bills and other receivables are recognised initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance 
for impairment.

2.12 Inventories

The Group’s inventories comprise solely raw materials 
which are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand and deposits held at call with 
banks with original maturities of three months or less.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.14 Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when 
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair 
value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried 
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, interest-bearing borrowing, lease liabilities 
and loans from ultimate holding company. All financial 
liabilities, are recognised initially at their fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method, unless the effect of 
discounting would be insignificant, in which case they 
are stated at cost.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables 
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle 
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as 
non- current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has 
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised 
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as 
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood 
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in 
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
finance costs.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the 
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each 
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and 
to unused tax losses.

2.17.1 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the 
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income. 
The management of the Group periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to s i tuat ions in which appl icab le 
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the 
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities.

2.17.2 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income 
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or 
the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences 
and losses.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income (Continued)

2.17.2 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax l iabi l i t ies and assets are not 
recognised for temporary differences between 
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments 
in foreign operations where the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred 
income tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are 
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable 
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

2.18 Employee benefits

2.18.1 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave 
that are expected to be settled wholly within 
twelve months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to 
the end of the reporting period and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented 
as current employee benefit obligations in the 
consolidated statements of financial position.

2.18.2 Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The obligations are presented as current liabilities 
in the consolidated statements of financial position 
if the entity does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period, regardless of when the 
actual settlement is expected to occur.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.18.3 Defined contribution plans

The Group pays contributions to state or publicly 
or privately managed pension insurance plans 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. 
The Group has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognised as employee benefits 
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is 
available.

2.18.4 Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense 
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into 
consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s 
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group 
recognises a provision where contractually obliged 
or where there is a past practice that has created 
a constructive obligation.

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue i s  measured at the fa i r  va lue of the 
consideration received or receivable and represents 
amount for the goods sold or service rendered in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s activity.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts 
where the period between the transfer of the promised 
goods or services to the customers and the payment by 
the customers exceeds one year. As a consequence, the 
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for 
the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the 
Group presents the contract in the consolidated 
statements of financial position as a contract asset 
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship 
between the Group’s performance and the customer’s 
payment.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration 
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer. Incremental costs incurred 
to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and 
presented as assets and subsequently amortised when 
the related revenue is recognised.

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer 
the promised goods or services to a customer for which 
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of 
consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an 
unconditional right to consideration. A right to 
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of 
time is required before payment of that consideration is 
due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been 
met for the Group’s activity as described below:

Manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing 
services

Revenue from manufacturing of lace and provision of 
dyeing services is recognised when the control of the 
goods or services is transferred to the customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws 
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or 
services may transfer over time or at a point in time. 
Control of the goods or services is transferred over time 
if the Group’s performance does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, 
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by 
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction 
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue 
is recognised at a point in time when the customer 
obtains control of the asset.

Revenue recognised over time uses the input method 
with reference to the costs incurred for the goods or 
services.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Footwear

Revenue from trading of casual and sports footwear 
is recognised when control of the products has 
transferred, being when the products are delivered to 
the customers, the customers have full discretion over 
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that 
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the products. 
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped 
to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence 
and loss have been transferred to the customers, and 
either the customers have accepted the products in 
accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance 
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective 
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been 
satisfied.

Receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered 
as this is the point in time that the consideration is 
unconditional because only the passage of time is 
required before the payment is due.

2.20 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis 
using the effective interest method.

2.21 Leases

The Group leases land for the manufacturing of lace 
and provision of dyeing services. The consideration paid 
for the lease is treated as a right-of-use asset, which 
is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Lease land is 
amortised over the remaining lease term using straight-
line method.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the 
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.21 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease 
payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payment that are based on an index 
or a rate;

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee 
under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the 
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 
and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 
option

The lease payments are discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, 
or the entity’s incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line 
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases 
are leases with a lease term of less than 12 months. 
Low-value assets comprise assets with value below 
RMB5,000.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.22 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised 
as a liability in the periods in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors  
of the Company, where appropriate.

2.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value 
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received, and the Group will comply with all the 
attached conditions.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised in the consolidated statement 
of income statement within “Other income” on a 
systematic basis in the same periods in which the 
expenses are recognised.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.24 Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to 
the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s 
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) i s a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or of the holding 
company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the 
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the 
same group (which means that each holding 
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 
related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which 
the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same 
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity 
and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit 
plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the Group or an entity related to the 
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the 
Group.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled 
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity 
(or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of 
which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the 
holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are 
those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their 
dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s chi ldren and spouse or 
domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic 
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s 
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate 
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint 
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

2.25 Future changes in HKFRS Accounting 
Standards

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated 
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the 
following new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that 
are not yet effective for the current financial reporting 
period, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 
and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments2

Annual Improvements 
to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards

Volume 112

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to  
HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2027

4 The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that 
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in future periods will have any material 
impact on the financial performance and financial 
position of the Group.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including price risk, foreign exchange 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

3.1 Market risk

3.1.1 Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from 
its financial products issued by banks which are 
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair 
value of the financial products issued by banks 
will fluctuate. The management of the Group 
is of the opinion that the price risk arising from 
the financial products issued by banks is not 
significant.

3.1.2 Foreign exchange risk

The major i ty  of  assets  and l iab i l i t i es  a re 
denominated in RMB, United States dollar (“USD”) 
and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and there are no 
significant assets and liabilities denominated in 
other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign 
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
which are denominated in a currency other than 
RMB, which is the functional currency of the 
major operating companies within the Group. 
The Group currently does not hedge its foreign 
currency exposure.

The Group’s foreign currency transactions are 
mainly denominated in USD and HKD.

At 31 December 2024, if USD had weakened/
strengthened by 5% (2023: 5%) against the 
RMB with all other variables held constant, loss 
before income tax for the year then ended would 
have been approximately RMB4,463,000 higher/
lower (2023: loss before income tax for the year 
then ended would have been approximately 
RMB4,274,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of 
the foreign exchange difference on the translation 
of  USD denominated depos i t s  and other 
receivables, other payables and accruals, trade and 
bills receivables, trade and bills payables and cash 
and cash equivalents.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.1 Market risk (Continued)

3.1.2 Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, if HKD had weakened/
strengthened by 5% (2023: 5%) against the 
RMB with all other variables held constant, loss 
before income tax for the year then ended would 
have been approximately RMB478,000 higher/
lower (2023: loss before income tax for the year 
then ended would have been approximately 
RMB1,693,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of 
the foreign exchange difference on the translation 
of HKD denominated trade and bills receivables, 
deposits and other receivables, trade and bills  
payables, other payables and accruals and cash 
and cash equivalents.

3.1.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group is primarily exposed to fair value 
interest rate risk in relation to lease liabilities and 
cash flow risk in relation to variable-rate bank 
balances. The Group currently does not have an 
interest rate hedging policy to mitigate interest 
rate risk; nevertheless, the management of 
the Group monitors interest rate exposure and 
will consider hedging significant interest rate 
risk should the need arise. The directors of the 
Company consider that the exposure of cash flow 
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank 
balances and cash is insignificant because the 
current market interest rates are relatively low and 
stable.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash 
at banks, contract assets, trade and bills receivables, 
deposits and other receivables. The carrying amounts 
of each financial asset represent the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a 
concentration of credit risk as approximately 21.7% 
and 65.8% (2023: 92.1% and 99.2%) of the contract 
assets was due from the Group’s largest customer 
and the five largest customers, respectively, and 
approximately 73.8% and 89.5% (2023: 91.9% and 
98.9%) of the total trade and bill receivables was due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest 
customers, respectively.

Risk management

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit 
terms are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit 
evaluations of its customers.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited 
because deposits are in banks with sound credit ratings 
and the management of the Group does not expect any 
loss from non-performance by these counterparties.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management (Continued)

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial asset that is 
subject to the ECL models:

• Contract assets, trade and bills receivables

• Other financial assets carried at amortised 
cost

Contract assets, trade and bills receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach 
to measure ECL which uses a l ifetime expected 
loss allowance for all contract assets, trade and 
bills receivables. The Group measures the ECL on a 
combination of both individual and collective basis.

To measure the ECL, contract assets and trade and 
bills receivables have grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract 
assets relate to unbilled services and have substantially 
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for 
the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore 
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade 
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss 
rates for the contract assets.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of ECL on individual basis

Contract assets and trade and bills receivables with 
known insolvencies are assessed individually for 
impairment allowances and are written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. At 
31 December 2024, the balance of loss allowance in 
respect of these individually assessed receivables was 
approximately RMB2,197,000 (2023: RMB2,449,000).

Measurement of ECL on collective basis

ECL are also estimated by grouping the remaining 
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, 
taking into account the nature of the customer and 
its ageing category, and applying the ECL rates to the 
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The ECL rates are estimated on the basis of historical 
credit losses experienced, adjusted to reflect the effects 
of existing market conditions as well as forward-looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the 
ability of the customers to settle the receivable.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Measurement of ECL on collective basis 
(Continued)

The provision for loss allowances for contract assets  
and trade and bills receivables at 31 December 2024 
and 2023 are determined as follows:

1–3 months Over 3 months Total
1 3 3     

At  31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Weighted average expected loss rate 0.1% 13.8% 0.3% 
Gross carrying amount of contract assets and 
 trade and bills receivables (RMB’000)  

 76,228 646 76,874
Provision for loss allowance (RMB’000) 104 89 193

   

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Weighted average expected loss rate 1.0% 28.7% 1.1%
Gross carrying amount of contract assets and 
 trade and bills receivables (RMB’000)  

 85,643 371 86,014
Provision for loss allowance (RMB’000) 868 107 975

   

When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account for receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against the same line item.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised 
cost include loan to a joint venture, deposits and other 
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The loss allowance of other financial assets 
carried at amortised cost is measured based on the 
12-month ECL. The 12-month ECL is the portion of 
lifetime ECL that results from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. However, when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since its origination, 
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the management of 
the Group considered the credit risk of deposits and 
other receivables to be low as counterparties have a 
strong capacity to meet their contractual cash flow 
obligations in the near term. The Group has assessed 
that the ECL for these other receivables were immaterial 
under 12-month expected losses method. Therefore, 
the loss allowance provision for these balances was 
immaterial and no provision was recognised.

In addition, the Group monitors the exposure to 
credit risk in respect of the loan to a joint venture by 
actively participating in financial and operational policy 
decisions and conducting regular assessments of the 
joint venture’s financial position. No significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, and therefore the 
impairment provision is determined as 12 months ECL.
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3.3 

2024 12 31
231,939,000

(2023 268,978,000

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current 
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity 
requirements in the shorter and longer term.

At 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and 
cash equiva lents amount ing to approx imate ly 
RMB231,939,000 (2023: RMB268,978,000), that are 
readily available for managing liquidity risk.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources 
including orderly realisation of receivables that the 
Group considers appropriate and an adequate amount 
of available financing including short-term borrowings 
are also considered by the Group in its capital 
structuring. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in 
funding by keeping sufficient bank balances, committed 
credit lines available and interest-bearing borrowings 
which enable the Group to continue its business for the 
foreseeable future.

The table below analyses the non-derivative financial 
liabilities of the Group into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date to the contractual 
maturity date.
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3.3 

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts disclosed in the table were the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the 
Group can be required to pay.

Total
carrying
amount

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

On demand
or less

than 1 year
1 to 2 
years

2 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

1 1 2 2 5 5

        

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Trade and bills payables 109,569 109,569 109,569 – – –

Other payables and accruals (excluding accrued
 employee benefits, deposits received from
 customers and other tax payables)

 
 
 11,083 13,496 11,097 65 262 2,072

Lease liabilities 6,505 7,164 2,243 1,882 2,296 743
Loans from ultimate holding company 52,349 52,349 52,349 – – –      

179,506 182,578 175,258 1,947 2,558 2,815
      

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Trade payables 108,793 108,793 108,793 – – –

Other payables and accruals (excluding accrued
 employee benefits, deposits received from
 customers and other tax payables)

 
 
 17,238 18,395 15,930 65 262 2,138

Interest-bearing borrowing 33,440 34,491 34,491 – – –

Lease liabilities 3,883 4,203 1,541 1,541 1,121 –

Loans from ultimate holding company 3,411 3,411 3,411 – – –      

166,765 169,293 164,166 1,606 1,383 2,138
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3.4 

3.5 

4  

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(Continued)

3.4 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

3.5 Fair value estimation

The Group‘s financial assets at FVPL at the consolidated 
statement of financial position which is measured at fair 
value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, 
including loan to a joint venture, trade and bills 
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and 
cash equivalents; and the Group’s financial liabilities 
including trade and bills payables, other payables and 
accruals, interest bearing borrowing, lease liabilities  
and loans from ultimate holding company, approximate 
their fair values due to their short maturities.

The nomina l  va lues less any est imated cred i t 
adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with 
a maturity of less than one year are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the 
Group for similar financial instruments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.
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4.2 
 

(1)
(2)

(3)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are addressed below.

4.1 Loss allowance on receivables and 
contract assets

The Group makes provision for loss allowance on 
receivables and contract assets based on assumptions 
about the risk of default and expected loss rates. The 
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions 
and select ing the inputs to the loss al lowance 
calculation, based on the Group’s historical default 
rates, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. 
The identification of loss allowance on receivables and 
contract assets requires the use of judgement and 
estimation. Where the expectations are different from 
the original estimates, such differences will impact on 
the carrying value of receivables and contract assets 
and loss allowance on receivables and contract assets 
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have 
been changed.

4.2 Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and 
intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation and any impairment losses. 
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group 
has to exercise judgements and make estimations, 
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has 
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset 
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be 
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of 
VIU, the net present value of future cash flows which 
are estimated based upon the continuing use of the 
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be 
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including 
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use 
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the CGU to which the assets belong. Changing the 
assumptions and estimates, including the discount 
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, 
could materially affect the net present value used in the 
impairment test.
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4.4 

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

4.3 Useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and right-
of-use assets

The management of the Group determines the 
estimated useful lives of the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets based on the 
historical experience of the actual useful lives of the 
relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The 
depreciation and amortisation expenses for future 
periods are adjusted if there are significant changes 
from previous estimates.

4.4 Revenue from contracts with customers

For manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing 
services, the Group creates or enhances an asset that 
the customer controls. Therefore, the directors of the 
Company are satisfied that the performance obligation 
is satisfied over time. The Group recognises revenue 
from manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing 
services contracts over time using the input method  
based on the actual direct costs incurred and the total 
estimated costs on completion for the services contracts. 
Total expected costs and their corresponding contract 
revenue require estimations from the management of 
the Group based on understanding of the performance 
of the contract and the Group’s historical experience. 
Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in the 
manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing services 
contracts, the date at which the activity is entered 
into and the date at which the activity is completed 
usually fall into different accounting periods. As a 
result, the Group reviews and revises the estimates of 
both contract revenue and contract costs in the budget 
prepared for each contract as the contract progresses. 
Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected 
or actual contract costs are more than expected, a 
provision for onerous contract may arise.
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(i) (ii)

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION

The Company is an investment holding company and the 
Group is principally engaged in (i) manufacturing of lace and 
provision of dyeing services and (ii) footwear business.

The executive directors of the Company have been identified 
as the CODM. The CODM reviews the Group’s internal 
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate 
resources. The CODM has determined the operating segment 
based on these reports. The Group has three reportable 
operating segments being:

(i) Manufacturing of lace – principally engaged in 
manufacturing of lace based on customers’ orders for 
lingerie and other products;

(ii) Provision of dyeing services – principally engaged in 
provision of dyeing services of lace and swimwear 
fabrics based on customers’ orders; and

(iii) Footwear – principally engaged in design, research and 
development, sourcing, merchandising, quality control 
and sales of casual and sports footwear.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating 
segments based on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating 
segments is presented as it is not regularly provided to the 
CODM for review.
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(a) 
 

2024
2023 12 31

(b) 
15

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results by 
operating segments

The segment information provided to the directors of 
the Company for the reportable segments for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Manufacturing of lace
Provision of dyeing

services Footwear Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

          

Segment revenue 14,421 20,690 64,932 53,287 505,188 243,376 584,541 317,353
        

Segment results 205 1,479 (317) (7,327) 57,606 29,694 57,494 23,846
        

Other segmental information:
Depreciation of property,
 plant and equipment  4,086 5,158 6,399 7,007 1,473 – 11,958 12,165
Additions to non-current
 segment assets  – – 652 460 3,860 4,183 4,512 4,643
Write-down of inventories 448 1,134 667 322 – – 1,115 1,456
Impairment loss on property,
 plant and equipment  640 3,130 1,002 4,252 – – 1,642 7,382
Research and development
 expenditures – – 6,740 6,481 5,372 2,178 12,112 8,659
Commission and
 handling charges – – – – 22,198 10,631 22,198 10,631

        

(b) Disaggregation of revenue from 
contracts with customers within HKFRS 
15 by the timing of revenue is as 
follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Timing of revenue recognition
Over time – provision of services 79,353 73,977
At a point in time – sales of footwear 505,188 243,376  

584,541 317,353
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(c) 

(d) 

2024 2023 12 31
10%

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Segment revenue by operating 
geographical location

The Group’s revenue by geographical location, which is 
determined by the location of operations, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Mainland China and Hong Kong 584,541 317,353
  

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue der i ved f rom customers ind iv idua l l y 
contributing over 10% of the Group’s total revenue 
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is 
as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Customer A from footwear business 
 segment

A
454,719 220,161
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(e) 

(i) 

2024 2023 12 31

(ii) 2024 2023 12 31

(f) 

2024 2023 12 31

15

(g)  

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Details of contract liabilities

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Contract liabilities (Note 25) 25 1,147 220
  

Notes:

(i) Contract liabilities represent advanced payments received 
from the customers for services that have not yet been 
transferred to the customers. The contract liabilities 
fluctuated during the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023 due to fluctuation in sales orders with advanced 
payments.

(ii) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all 
brought-forward contract liabilities at the beginning of 
the financial reporting periods were fully recognised as 
revenue.

(f) Unsatisfied performance obligations

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all performance 
obligations not yet satisfied by the Group were from 
contracts with original expected duration of less than 
one year. Therefore, as permitted by the relevant 
practical expedient under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price 
allocated to these unsatisfied performance obligations 
was not disclosed.

(g) Non-current assets by geographical 
location

No geographical analysis on segment assets in provided 
as substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets 
were located in the Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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 2024 12 31
12,112,000 2023

8,659,000

6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution 
expenses, administrative expenses, net reversal of loss 
allowance on financial assets and contract assets and 
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment are 
analysed as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Raw materials and merchandise used
 (Note 19)

19
477,110 242,584

Employee benefit expenses, including
 directors’ emoluments (Note 9)  9 54,022 36,449
Manpower service expenses (Note 9) 9 1,146 1,229
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) 15 158 363
Utilities 11,022 9,204
Depreciation of property, plant and
 equipment and right-of-use assets
 (Note 14)

 14
13,351 15,357

Depreciation of investment property – 13
Write-down of inventories (Note 19) 19 1,115 1,456
Auditors’ remuneration
– Audit service 821 895
– Non-audit service 410 492
Professional fees 3,843 2,970
Other tax and surcharges 1,028 921
Packaging expenses 3,951 703
Commission and handling charges 22,198 10,631
Waste handling charges 2,080 2,094
Net reversal of loss allowance on financial 
 assets and contract assets  (1,034) (1)
Impairment loss on property,
 plant and equipment (Note 14)  14 1,642 7,382
Travelling expenses 1,817 929
Entertainment expenses 1,559 694
Donations 1,824 100
Others 3,292 365  

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution 
 expenses, administrative expenses, net 
 reversal of loss allowance on financial 
 assets and contract assets and impairment 
 loss on property, plant and equipment

 
 
 
 601,355 334,830

  

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, research and 
development expenditures of approximately RMB12,112,000 
(2023: approximately RMB8,659,000) were included in the 
respective amounts as disclosed above.
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7 OTHER INCOME

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Government grants (Note) 752 4,247
Others 1,045 154  

1,797 4,401
  

Note: Government grants are all income related and there exists no 
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these 
government grants.

8 OTHER GAINS, NET

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Loss on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment  (13) –

Exchange differences 2,102 2,386
Others 7 71  

2,096 2,457
  

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND 
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES, 
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Wages and salaries 49,212 33,646
Pension costs – defined contribution plans
 (Note a)  a 3,925 2,555
Other staff welfares 885 248  

Total employee benefit expenses
 (including directors’ remunerations)  54,022 36,449
Manpower service expenses (Note b) b 1,146 1,229  

55,168 37,678
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(a) 

2024 2023 12 31

1,500

2024 12 31
2023

2024 12 31
2023

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND 
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES, 
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Pension costs – defined contribution plans

The PRC

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in 
the PRC, the subsidiary operating in the PRC contributes 
to state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees. For 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, depending 
on the provinces of the employees’ registered residences 
and their current region of work, the subsidiary contributed 
certain percentages of the salaries of its employees and had 
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or 
post retirement benefits beyond the contributions. The state-
sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire 
pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

Hong Kong

The Group participates in a defined contribution Mandatory 
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Pension 
Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong 
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of 
the employees’ basic salaries. The cap of the mandatory 
contribution amount was HK$1,500 per employee per month 
and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of 
the Pension Scheme. The assets of the Pension Scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administrated fund. The Group’s employer contributions 
vest fully with the employees when contributed to the 
Pension Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary 
contributions, if any, where there are employees who leave the 
Group prior to vesting fully in the voluntary contributions, the 
contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the amount 
of forfeited voluntary contributions. The Group has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

No contributions forfeited by employees leaving the scheme 
were utilised to offset contributions during the year ended 31 
December 2024 (2023: Nil). At 31 December 2024, there were 
no forfeited contributions (2023: Nil) available to reduce the 
contributions payable in future years.
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(b) 

2024 2023 12 31

(c) 

2024 12 31
2023

37
2024 12 31
2023

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND 
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES, 
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Manpower service expenses

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
Group entered into certain manpower service arrangements 
with an external manpower service organisation in the PRC. 
Under these arrangements, certain of the Group’s manpower 
requirements were fulfilled by this organisation at agreed 
service fees whereas the human resources provided were 
directly employed by the service organisation. The individuals 
providing services to the Group did not have any employment 
relationship with the Group.

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the 
Group include two directors for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: one), whose emoluments are reflected in the 
analysis presented in Note 37 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The emoluments payable to the remaining three 
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: four) 
are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Wages and salaries 1,747 2,778
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 49 62  

1,796 2,840
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(c) 

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31

10 

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND 
MANPOWER SERVICE EXPENSES, 
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals

2024 2023
2024 2023    

Emolument band
Not more than HKD1,000,000 1,000,000 3 4

  

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the 
directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as 
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023. There was no arrangement under 
which a director or the five highest paid individuals waived 
or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

10 FINANCE INCOME, NET

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Finance income
Interest income 2,757 2,306  

Finance costs
Unwinding of discount on other payables (13) (12)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (200) (62)
Interest expenses on interest-bearing
 borrowing (1,825) (278)
Charges on bills payables (206) –

Interest expenses on loans from ultimate 
 holding company (355) –  

(2,599) (352)  

Finance income, net 158 1,954
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11 

2024 2023 12 31

2022 12
3

15%

2021 3
200%

2024 2023 12
31

2024 12 31

2018/19
200 8.25%

200 16.5%

* 

11 TAXATION

Taxation has been provided at the appropriate rates 
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The group entities established in the Cayman Islands and 
the BVI are exempted from corporate income tax of those 
jurisdictions.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Fujian 
Deyun Technology Co., Ltd* ( ), the 
Group’s subsidiary in the PRC, has been qualified for high 
and new technology enterprises status since December 2022 
with a valid period of 3 years and is therefore subject to a 
preferential income tax rate of 15% during the valid period.

The State Taxation Administration of the PRC announced 
in March 2021 that enterprises engaging in research 
and development activities would be entitled to claim at 
maximum 200% of their research and development expenses 
as “Super Deduction”. The directors of the Company 
consider the eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries and recognise 
the additional tax deduction for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

No provision for tax in the PRC has been made during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 since no assessable profit has 
been generated by the subsidiaries operating in the Mainland 
China.

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by 
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong from the year 
of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the first HKD2 million of 
assessable profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed 
at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HKD2 million will be 
taxed at 16.5%.

* for identification purpose only
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11 TAXATION (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, one 
of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong, was a qualifying 
entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The 
profits of corporations in the Group not qualifying for the 
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed 
at a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Current tax
 The PRC corporate income tax  – 1,123
 Hong Kong Profits tax  44 318  

44 1,441

(Over)/Under-provision in prior years
 Hong Kong profits tax  (72) 2  

Deferred tax (Note 28) 28 18 (17)  

Income tax (credit)/expenses (10) 1,426
  

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Loss before income tax (12,763) (8,665)
  

Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to
 the respective subsidiaries  (2,378) (759)
Tax effect of:
 Income not subject tax  (480) (447)
 Expense not deductible for tax purpose  2,148 772
 Unrecognised temporary differences  377 1,199
 (Over)/Under-provision in prior years   

  (72) 2
 Tax loss not recognised (Note (a))  (a) 1,406 1,641
 Super deductions from research and
  development expenditure (Note (b))

 (b)
(1,011) (982)  

Income tax (credit)/expenses (10) 1,426
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(a) 2024 12 31
20,315,000 2023

10,942,000
3,047,000 2023 1,641,000

5

(b) 

200%

12 

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31

11 TAXATION (Continued)

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise 
deferred tax assets of approximately RMB3,047,000 (2023: 
RMB1,641,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to 
approximately RMB20,315,000 (2023: RMB10,942,000), 
which is subject to the agreement by the relevant tax authority 
and could be carried forward to offset future income for a 
maximum of 5 years from the year in which the tax losses was 
incurred.

(b) According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated 
by the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC, enterprises 
engaging in research and development activities are entitled 
to claim 200% of their research and development expenses 
incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their 
assessable profits for that year.

12 LOSS PER SHARE

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

2024 2023
2024 2023    

Loss for the year attributable to owners of
 the Company (RMB’000)  (12,753) (10,091)

  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
 in issue (thousands of shares)  1,260,000 1,260,000

  

Basic and diluted loss per share
 (RMB cents)  (1.01) (0.80)

  

There were no differences between the basic and diluted loss 
per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares 
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023.
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2024 2023 12 31

13 SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are set out below.

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

Particulars of
issued share

capital/paid-up
capital

Percentage of effective interest
held/controlled by the Group

2024 2023
2024 2023      

Direct interests:

Deyun Investment Limited BVI, limited liability company Investment holding in BVI USD1 100% 100%
Deyun Investment Limited 1

Circle Time Limited 
 (“Circle Time”)

BVI, limited liability company Investment holding in BVI USD1 100% 100%

Circle Time Limited
 Circle Time

1

Indirect Interests:

Deyun Holding (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability
 company

Investment holding in 
 Hong Kong

HKD1 100% 100%

Deyun Holding (HK) Limited 1

Fujian Deyun Consulting
 Services Co. Ltd.*

The PRC, limited liability company Investment holding in the PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%

10,000,000

Fujian Deyun Technology
 Company Limited*

The PRC, limited liability company Manufacturing of lace and
 provision of dyeing services
 in the PRC

RMB98,670,000 100% 100%

 
98,670,000

* for identification purpose only * 
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Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

Particulars of
issued share

capital/paid-up
capital

Percentage of effective interest
held/controlled by the Group

2024 2023
2024 2023      

Hope Faith Limited Hong Kong, limited liability
 company

Sales, research and development,
 sourcing and merchandising of
 footwear in Hong Kong

HKD1 100% 100%

 
1

Putian Yingchuang Trading
 Company Limited*

The PRC, limited liability company Sales, design, research and
 development, sourcing, quality
 control and merchandising of
 footwear in the PRC

RMB2,000,000 100% 100%

 
 

2,000,000

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the 
reporting period.

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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14  14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Buildings
Plant and

machinery
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Sub-total
Right-of-use

assets Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

          

Year ended 31 December
 2023

2023 12 31
 

Opening net carrying amount 25,951 111,302 1,055 2,958 1,301 142,567 2,555 145,122
Additions – 925 10 60 458 1,453 4,183 5,636
Depreciation (Note 6) 6 (2,284) (11,986) (299) (323) – (14,892) (465) (15,357)
Transfer from construction in
 progress 659 – 1,004 – (1,663) – – –

Transfer from investment 
 property 268 – – – – 268 – 268
Impairment loss – (7,382) – – – (7,382) – (7,382)
Exchange realignment – – – – – – 53 53        

Closing net carrying amount 24,594 92,859 1,770 2,695 96 122,014 6,326 128,340
        

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Cost 43,705 281,904 5,829 4,118 96 335,652 8,362 344,014
Accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment (19,111) (189,045) (4,059) (1,423) – (213,638) (2,036) (215,674)        

Net carrying amount 24,594 92,859 1,770 2,695 96 122,014 6,326 128,340
        

Year ended 31 December
 2024

2024 12 31
 

Opening net carrying amount 24,594 92,859 1,770 2,695 96 122,014 6,326 128,340
Additions – 983 217 455 – 1,655 3,860 5,515
Depreciation (Note 6) 6 (1,908) (9,133) (326) (429) – (11,796) (1,555) (13,351)
Transfer from construction in
 progress – 96 – – (96) – – –

Disposal – (13) – – – (13) – (13)
Impairment loss – (1,642) – – – (1,642) – (1,642)
Exchange realignment – – – – – – 107 107        

Closing net carrying amount 22,686 83,150 1,661 2,721 – 110,218 8,738 118,956
        

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Cost 43,705 281,082 6,046 4,573 – 335,406 12,354 347,760
Accumulated depreciation and 
 impairment (21,019) (197,932) (4,385) (1,852) – (225,188) (3,616) (228,804)        

Net carrying amount 22,686 83,150 1,661 2,721 – 110,218 8,738 118,956
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2024 2023 12 31

2023

5
5

104 ,213 ,000 2023
121,000,000 2024 12 31

2024 12 31
1,642,000

2023 7,382,000

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
depreciation expenses have been charged in cost of sales, 
selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses 
as below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Cost of sales 10,485 14,104
Selling and distribution expenses 2 6
Administrative expenses 2,864 1,247  

13,351 15,357
  

In view of the business performance fell below management’s 
expectation (2023: continuance drop in revenue) in respect 
of the manufacturing of lace and provision of dyeing 
services (the “Lace and Dyeing Business”) during the 
current period, the management of the Group identified the 
existence of an impairment indication on the property, plant 
and equipment and right-of-use assets of Lace and Dyeing 
Business (the “Non-current Assets”). The management of 
the Group engaged an independent professional valuer to 
assess the recoverable amount of the Non-current Assets, 
which is determined based on the VIU of the Lace and 
Dyeing Business to which the Non-current Assets relate.

The management of the Group estimated the recoverable 
amount of the Non-current Assets with reference to the VIU 
calculation using cash flow projection of Lace and Dyeing 
Business. The VIU calculation uses cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by the directors of 
the Company covering a 5-year period. Cash flow beyond 
the 5-year period has been extrapolated using a long-
term growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant 
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average 
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the impairment review performed by the 
management of the Group with reference to the VIU 
calculation conducted by an independent professional 
valuer, the recoverable amounts of Non-current Assets of 
approximately RMB104,213,000 (2023: RMB121,000,000) 
was lower than its carrying amount at 31 December 
2024 and therefore, an impairment loss of approximately 
RMB1,642,000 (2023: RMB7,382,000) was recognised for 
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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14 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Key assumptions used in the VIU calculation are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 2023    

Budgeted average gross profit margin 11.9% 9.3%
Average growth rate 5.1% 13.2%
Long-term growth rate 2.2% 2.2%
Discount rate (pre-tax) 11.0% 14.5%

The management of the Group determined the budgeted 
average gross profit margin and average growth rate 
based on past performance and the expectation of market 
development. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects 
specific market risks relating to the Lace and Dyeing Business.

Sensitivity of key assumptions

The management of the Group identified the following key 
assumptions in which a material change on an individual 
basis would cause any or additional impairment loss. Material 
changes that individually cause additional impairment loss on 
the identifiable assets:

2024 2023
2024 2023

Increase of
impairment

loss

Increase of
impairment

loss

Change RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Budgeted average gross profit margin Decrease 1% 9,474 13,248
1%

Average growth rate Decrease 1% 5,285 47,449
1%

Long-term growth rate Decrease 1% 4,032 4,778
1%

Discount rate Increase 1% 6,662 8,412
1%
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14 

2023 

2024 12
31

1,547,000 (2023
416,000

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Right-of-use assets
Land use right 2,390 2,472
Leased properties 6,348 3,854  

8,738 6,326
  

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
 assets
Land use right 82 82
Leased properties 1,473 383  

1,555 465
  

The Group leases various properties. Lease contracts are 
typically with fixed periods of three years and a renewal 
option of three years (2023: three years).

The lease contracts of leased properties contain termination 
options. The option aims to provide flexibility for the Group 
in managing the leased assets. Exercising the termination 
option is normally unusual unless the Group could replace 
the leased properties without significant cost or acquisition of 
a new property. The Group seldom exercises option that was 
not included in the lease liabilities. During the year ended 
31 December 2024, all lease contracts for leased properties 
contain a termination option, in which the total lease 
payment made amounted to approximately RMB1,547,000 
(2023: RMB416,000), representing the total cash outflows 
for lease.
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2024 2023 12 31

2024 12 31
2023

161,000

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval 
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be 
used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling 
or pledging the underlying assets. The Group is also required 
to keep those leased assets in a good state of repair and 
return the leased assets in their original condition at the end 
of the lease.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has no 
commitment to lease contracts in relation to leased 
properties that have not yet commenced.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has no commitment 
to short-term leases or low-value asset leases (2023: 
RMB161,000).
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2024 2023 12 31
8,000 7,000

150,000
356,000

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

RMB’000

   

Year ended 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Opening net carrying amount 743
Additions 72
Amortisation (Note 6) 6 (363) 

Closing net carrying amount 452
 

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Cost 2,586
Accumulated amortisation (2,134) 

Net carrying amount 452
 

Year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Opening net carrying amount 452
Additions 130
Amortisation (Note 6) 6 (158) 

Closing net carrying amount 424
 

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Cost 2,716
Accumulated amortisation (2,292) 

Net carrying amount 424
 

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
amortisation of approximately RMB8,000 and RMB7,000 has 
been charged in administrative expenses and approximately 
RMB150,000 and RMB356,000 has been charged in cost of 
sales, respectively.
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* 1,000

16 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Unlisted shares, at cost *– –

Loan to a joint venture 32,410 –  

32,410 –
  

* represents amount less than RMB1,000

Details of the joint venture at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

Name of 
joint venture

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Class of 
shares held

Proportion of value of 
issued capital held 
by the Company

Principal 
activities

Directly Indirectly

      

Star Power Development 
 Limited (“Star Power”)

Hong Kong Ordinary – 50% Events 
Management

 

The above joint venture is accounted for using the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements.
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16 

2024 10 25 Circle Time
Asia Partners IFBD 

Limited Asia Partners
Cristiano Ronaldo dos Santos Aveiro

2024 10 25 Circle Time
Circle Time

70,000,000
64,820,000

Asia Partners
Circle Time

16 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Relationship with joint venture

On 25 October 2024, Circle Time and Asia Partners IFBD 
Limited (“Asia Partners”), an independent third party 
incorporated in Hong Kong which is the rightful owner of 
the rights pertaining to the museum brand of an iconic 
Portuguese footballer, Mr. Cristiano Ronaldo dos Santos 
Aveiro (the “Player”) and its relevant merchandises in Hong 
Kong entered into a joint venture agreement in respect of 
the formation of the joint venture to collaborate on hosting 
events which involve the organisation and development of a 
travelling exhibition in Hong Kong for the museum brand of 
the Player.

On 25 October 2024, Circle Time entered into a loan 
agreement with Star Power. Pursuant to the loan agreement, 
Circle Time has committed to providing the loan facility of 
not more than HK$70,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB64,820,000) for the working capital of Star Power. The 
loan is denominated in HKD, unsecured and interest-free. 
Repayment of any amount of the loan is subject to the joint 
venture having sufficient assets after taking into account the 
external financing and accumulated profits.

Arrangements with joint venture partners

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, the board of Star 
Power shall consist of two directors, with one director to be 
appointed by Asia Partners and one director to be appointed 
by Circle Time. All decisions relating to the event, including 
but not limited to the budget plan for the event, the use of 
funds and entering into any agreement with any third parties, 
shall be made by the mutual approval of two directors.

Fair value of investments 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s joint venture 
is a private company and there was no quoted market price 
available for the investment.
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16 16 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Financial information of the joint venture

Summarised financial information of the joint venture of 
the Group is set out below, which represents amounts 
shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in 
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards and adjusted 
by the Group for equity accounting purposes including any 
differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments. 

RMB’000
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31   

Gross amount
Current assets 32,216
Current liabilities (32,416) 

Net Liabilities (200)
 

Included in above:
 Cash and cash equivalents  13,697
 Current financial liabilities  (32,416)

 

Reconciliation
Gross amount of deficit (200)

 

Group’s ownership interests 50%
 

Group’s voting rights 50%
 

Group’s share of deficit (100)
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100,000 2023
100,000 2023

16 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Financial information of the joint venture  
(Continued)

Star Power

RMB’000
Period from 25 October 2024 to  
 31 December 2024

2024 10 25  
 2024 12 31   

Loss for the period (196)
Other comprehensive loss (4) 

Total comprehensive loss (200)
 

Group’s ownership interests 50%
 

Group’s share of (Note):
Loss for the period (98)
Other comprehensive loss (2) 

Total comprehensive loss (100)
 

Unrecognised share of loss of the joint 
venture 

The unrecognised share of loss of the joint venture for 
the current period and cumulatively up to the end of the 
reporting period amounted to approximately RMB100,000 
(2023: Nil) and approximately RMB100,000 (2023: Nil), 
respectively.

Commitments

The Group has the following unrecognised commitments 
relating to its interest in a joint venture.

2024 2023
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Commitments to contribute 
 funding or resources for:

 

 Financial support if called  32,410 –
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17  17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 
CATEGORY

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and bills receivables 
 (Note 20)  20 72,004 78,185
Deposits and other receivables 3,093 418
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) 22 231,939 268,978  

307,036 347,581
Financial assets at FVPL
Financial products issued by banks (Note 21) 21 8,006 –  

315,042 347,581
  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and bills payables (Note 29)

 29 109,569 108,793
Other payables and accruals 11,083 17,238
Interest-bearing borrowing (Note 27) 27 – 33,440
Lease liabilities (Note 26) 26 6,505 3,883
Loans from ultimate holding
 company (Note 30)

30
52,349 3,411  

179,506 166,765
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18  

(a)  
14,018,000

(b)  

2024 2023 12 31

18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Current portion
Prepayments to suppliers 519 1,378
Other prepayments 501 568
Other deposit (Note (a)) (a) 14,018 –
Other receivables 2,588 89
Deposits 505 233
Other tax receivables 1,001 580
Amount due from a related company 
 (Note (b))

(b)
– 96  

19,132 2,944
  

Non-current portion
Prepayments of acquisition of property,
 plant and equipment  – 121

  

Note (a): The Group has provided a deposit of approximately 
RMB14,018,000 for intellectual property merchandising 
business opportunity. The Group’s ultimate holding 
company has fully undertaken the amount and agreed to 
indemnify against any losses related to the deposit which 
is denominated in EUR.

Note (b): The amount due from a related company was unsecured, 
interest free and repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables approximated 
their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits 
and other receivables were denominated in the following 
currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

RMB 1,852 2,547
HKD 3,262 518
EUR 14,018 –  

19,132 3,065
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2024 12 31
1,115,000 (2023 1,456,000

20 

2024 2023 12 31

19 INVENTORIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Raw materials 10,928 10,822
Less: Allowance on inventories (5,636) (4,521)  

5,292 6,301
  

Allowance on inventories amounting to approximately 
RMB1,115,000 (2023: RMB1,456,000) was recognised in the 
consolidated income statement and included in cost of sales 
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS 
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Contract assets 4,724 6,906
Less: Loss allowance on contract assets (47) (52)  

Contract assets, net 4,677 6,854  

Trade receivables 73,994 81,377
Bills receivables 353 180
Less: Loss allowance on trade receivables (2,343) (3,372)  

Trade and bills receivables, net 72,004 78,185  

76,681 85,039
  

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to consideration 
for work completed but unbilled for its business. The contract 
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights 
become unconditional, which generally takes one to three 
months. The balances of contract assets fluctuated from 
year-to-year during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023 as the Group provided varying amount of goods or 
services that were unbilled before the year-ends.
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2024 2023 12 31

90
2023 90

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS 
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of 
contract assets, trade and bills receivables approximated their 
fair values.

The Group grants credit up to 90 days (2023: up to 90 days) 
upon issuance of invoice.

Movements on the Group’s loss allowance on contract assets 
are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

At 1 January 1 1 52 28
Loss allowance on a collective basis 29 34
Reversal of loss allowance (34) (10)  

At 31 December 12 31 47 52
  

Movements on the Group’s loss allowance trade receivables 
are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

At 1 January 1 1 3,372 3,397
Loss allowance on a collective basis 29 367
Reversal of loss allowance (1,058) (392)  

At 31 December 12 31 2,343 3,372
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2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31

20 CONTRACT ASSETS, TRADE AND BILLS 
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade 
and bills receivables, based on invoice date, was as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

1 to 3 months 1 3 71,504 78,737
Over 3 months 3 2,843 2,820  

74,347 81,557
Less: Loss allowance on trade receivables (2,343) (3,372)  

72,004 78,185
  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract assets, trade 
and bills receivables were denominated in the following 
currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

RMB 12,200 12,988
USD 64,481 72,051  

76,681 85,039
  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2024 
and 2023 was the carrying value of the receivables and 
contract assets mentioned above. The Group did not hold 
any collateral as security.
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13

• 1 1

• 2 2
1

• 3

2024 12 31 1 2
3

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Mandatorily measured at FVPL
 – Financial products issued by banks – 8,006 –

  

In accordance with HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
the Group defines the three levels of fair value hierarchy. 
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified 
is determined with reference to the observability and 
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as 
follows:

• Level 1 valuations Fair value measured using only Level 
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities at the measurement date.

• Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 
inputs i.e. observable inputs which 
fail to meet Level 1, and not using 
signif icant unobservable inputs. 
Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available.

• Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant 
unobservable inputs.

Recurring fair value measurement

Fair value at 
31 December 

2024
2024

12 31

Fair value measurement at 
31 December 2024 categorised into
2024 12 31
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

1 2 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Financial assets:
Financial products issued by banks 8,006 – – 8,006

    

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no 
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or 
out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period in which they occur.
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21 

 

2024 12 31
1.74% 2023

2024 2023 12 31
3

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Continued) 

Information about Level 3 fair value 
measurements

Financial products issued by banks

Financial products issued by banks were short-term and 
redeemable on-demand investment products.

The fair value of financial products issued by banks has been 
estimated and reported by the banks on a regular basis. The 
unobservable input is the expected annual return rate fixed in 
the investment contracts. These expected annual return rates 
were up to 1.74% at 31 December 2024 (2023: N/A).

The movements of financial products issued by banks during 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in the balance 
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

At the beginning of the reporting period – –

Addition 16,000 –

Disposal (8,000) –

Changes in fair value 6 –  

At the end of the reporting period 8,006 –
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22 

2024 2023 12 31

2024 2023 12 31
186,176,000

192,740,000

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Cash on hand 53 15
Cash at banks 231,886 268,963  

Cash and cash equivalents 231,939 268,978
  

Maximum exposure to credit risk 231,886 268,963
  

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the 
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Cash and cash equivalents 231,939 268,978
  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents were denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

RMB 144,693 135,168
USD 73,965 87,409
HKD 13,281 46,401  

231,939 268,978
  

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated 
their fair values.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, cash and cash equivalents 
of the Group amounting to approximately RMB186,176,000 
and RMB192,740,000, respectively, were deposited with 
the banks in the PRC where the remittance of funds out of 
the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign 
exchange control promulgated by the Government of the 
PRC.
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23 23 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares

Nominal
value

Nominal
value

’000 HK$’000 RMB’000

     

Ordinary shares of
 HK$0.01 each

0.01
 

Authorised:
At 1 January 2023, 
 31 December 2023,
 1 January 2024 and 
 31 December 2024

2023 1 1
 2023 12 31
 2024 1 1
 2024 12 31 10,000,000 100,000 84,177

   

Number of
shares

Nominal
value

Nominal
value

’000 HK$’000 RMB’000

     

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2023, 
 31 December 2023,
 1 January 2024 and 
 31 December 2024

2023 1 1
 2023 12 31
 2024 1 1
 2024 12 31 1,260,000 12,600 10,511
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24 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

10%

50%

(d) 

24 RESERVE

(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net 
proceeds from issuance of the Company’s shares over 
its par value. Under the law of the Cayman Islands and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, it is distributable 
to the Company’s shareholders provided that the 
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the 
ordinary course of business.

(b) Other reserves

Other reserves represent the combined share capital and 
capital reserve of the companies now comprising the 
Group, after elimination of inter-company transactions 
and balances in relation to the reorganisation in prior 
years.

(c) Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies 
registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory 
reserves, which are to be appropriated from the profit 
after income tax (after offsetting accumulated losses 
from prior years) as reported in their respective statutory 
financial statements, before profit distributions to equity 
holders. All statutory reserves are created for specific 
purposes. A PRC company is required to appropriate 
an amount of 10% of statutory profits after income 
tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of 
its post-tax profits of the current year. A company may 
discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum 
of the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its 
registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall 
only be used to make up for losses of the company, to 
expand the company’s operations, or to increase the 
capital of the company. In addition, a company may 
make further contribution to the discretional surplus 
reserve using its post-tax profits in accordance with 
resolutions of shareholders.

(d) Exchange reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange 
differences arising from the translation of foreign 
operations for consolidation to the presentation 
currency.
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2024 2023 12 31

25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER 
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Current portion
Payables for acquisition of property, 
 plant and equipment  2,413 2,743
Commission payables 3,761 10,816
Other payables 1,843 693
Accruals for auditors’ remuneration 1,018 909
Accruals for employee benefit expenses 3,422 3,479
Accruals for professional fees 295 222
Other accruals 432 482
Deposits received from customers 221 533  

13,405 19,877
Contract liabilities (Note 5(e)) 5(e) 1,147 220  

14,552 20,097
  

Non-current portion
Other payables 1,321 1,373

  

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of 
the Group’s other payables and accruals approximated their 
fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract liabilities, other 
payables and accruals were denominated in the following 
currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

RMB 9,113 8,644
HKD 6,760 12,826  

15,873 21,470
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26 

2024 2023 12 31
5.2%

5.4%

26 LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum
lease payments

Present value of minimum
lease payment

2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023 2024 2023

      

Within one year 2,243 1,541 1,980 1,355
In the second to
 fifth years, inclusive  4,178 2,662 3,797 2,528
Over five years 743 – 728 –    

7,164 4,203 6,505 3,883
Less: Future finance charges (659) (320) N/A N/A    

Present value of lease obligations 6,505 3,883 6,505 3,883
  

Less:   Amount due for settlement 
 within 12 months (show  
 under current liabilities)

 12  
  
 (1,980) (1,355)  

Amount due for settlement after
 12 months

12
4,525 2,528

  

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the weighted average 
effective interest rate for the lease liabilities of the Group was 
5.2% and 5.4% per annum, respectively.
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2023 12 31

8.0%

28 

27 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWING

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Interest-bearing borrowing – unsecured
– Within one year – 33,440

  

At 31 December 2023, the unsecured interest-bearing 
borrowing was wholly repayable within six months since its 
inception and arranged at a fixed rate per annum of 8.0%. 
The unsecured borrowing was borrowed from a financial 
institution which was an independent third party.

28 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Deferred tax liabilities 550 532
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28 

2024 2023 12 31

5

28 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities
Contracts

assets

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 (7) (427) (115) (549)
Credit (Charge) to the consolidated 
 income statement  6 19 (8) 17    

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 (1) (408) (123) (532)
Credit (Charge) to the consolidated 
 income statement  5 (16) (7) (18)    

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 4 (424) (130) (550)
    

Deferred tax assets are recognised for the tax loss carried 
forwards to extent that the realisation of the related tax 
benefit through future taxable profit is probable.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams. At the end of the 
reporting period, the Group has the following tax losses 
arising in the PRC that can be offset against future taxable 
profits of the respective subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 
years from the year in which the tax loss was incurred:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Year of expiry
2028 2028 10,942 10,942
2029 2029 9,373 –  

Total 20,315 10,942
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2024 12 31
113,111,000 2023

122,484,000

10%

29 

28 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group had undistributed earnings of approximately 
R M B113 ,111 ,000  a t  31  D e c e m b e r  2024  ( 2023 : 
approximately RMB122,484,000), which, if paid out as 
dividends, would be subject to tax in the hands of the 
recipient. An assessable temporary difference exists, but no 
deferred liability has been recognised as the Company is 
able to control the timing of distributions of dividends from 
the PRC subsidiaries and is not expected to distribute these 
profits in the foreseeable future.

Dividends payable by a foreign invested enterprise in 
Mainland China to its foreign investors are subject to 10% 
withholding tax, unless any foreign investor’s jurisdiction 
of incorporation has a tax treaty with Mainland China that 
provides for a different withholding arrangement.

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Notes 2024 2023

     

Trade and bills payables
Trade payables
 To related parties  269 8,341
 To third parties  80,633 100,452  

29(a) 80,902 108,793
Bills payables 29(b) 28,667 –  

109,569 108,793
  

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be settled 
within one year or repayable on demand.
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29 

29 (a) 

30 2023 30

29 (b) 

2024 12 31

1.9% 2023

2024 2023 12 31

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

29 (a) Trade payables

The trade payables are interest free and with 
normal credit terms up to 30 days (2023: up to 30 
days).

29 (b) Bills payables

At 31 December 2024, the bills payable with 
maturity date within one year carry fixed interest 
rate at 1.9% (2023: N/A) per annum. The bills 
payables are guarantee by a related party which 
the family members of the directors of the 
Company have control and/or significant influence 
over the related company.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing 
analysis of trade and bills payables, based on 
invoice/issue date, was as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

1 to 3 months 1 3 107,948 107,210
Over 3 months 3 1,621 1,583  

109,569 108,793
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29 

30  

2024 12 31 50,138,000
6.5%

2024 12 31
14,018,000 2023

2023 12 31

31 

2024 2023 12 31

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills 
payables were denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

RMB 60,380 35,447
USD 49,189 73,346  

109,569 108,793
  

30 LOANS FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING 
COMPANY

A t  31  D e c e m b e r  2024 ,  b a l a n c e s  a m o u n t i n g  t o 
RMB50,138,000 are unsecured, fixed interest rate at 6.5% 
per annum and repayable on demand. The remaining 
balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable 
on demand. The amount represent advances to the Group 
for its working capital requirements.

At 31 December 2024, the loans from ultimate holding 
company are denominated in HKD, except for the amount of 
RMB14,018,000 (2023: Nil) which is denominated in EUR.

At 31 December 2023, the loans from ultimate holding 
company are unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand 
and denominated in HKD.

The carrying amount of the loans from ultimate holding 
company approximated its fair value.

31 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company 
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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32  

(a) 

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of loss before tax to 
cash generated from operations:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Loss before income tax (12,763) (8,665)
Adjustments for:
 Interest income  (2,757) (2,306)
 Interest expenses  2,599 352
 Depreciation of property,
  equipment

 
11,796 14,892

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets  1,555 465
 Depreciation of investment property  – 13
 Amortisation of intangible assets  158 363
 Loss on disposal of property, 
  plant and equipment

 
  13 –

 Net reversal of loss allowance on 
  financial assets and contract assets

 
  (1,034) (1)

 Changes in fair value on financial 
  assets at FVTPL  (6) –

 Write-down of inventories  1,115 1,456
 Impairment loss on property,  
  plant and equipment

 
  1,642 7,382  

2,318 13,951

Changes in working capital:
 Trade and bills receivables  7,210 (72,023)
 Contract assets  2,182 (680)
 Prepayments, deposits and other
  receivables

 
  (16,188) (2,372)

 Inventories  (106) 198
 Trade and bills payables  776 98,697
 Other payables and accruals  (6,524) 8,168
 Contract liabilities  927 (145)  

Cash (used in)/generated  
 from operations (9,405) 45,794
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32 

(b) 

(i) 2024 12 31

3,860,000 2023
4,183,000

(ii) 2024 12 31

121,000
2023

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in 
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had 
the following major non-cash transactions:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group entered into lease arrangements 
in respect of leased assets with a total capital 
value at the inception of leases of approximately 
RMB3,860,000 (2023: RMB4,183,000).

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group utilised the deposits paid for acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment of approximately 
RMB121,000 (2023: Nil) for the addition of 
property, plant and equipment.



201應星控股集團有限公司 二零二四年年報

For the year ended 31 December 2024 截至2024年12月31日止年度

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

32 

(c)  

2024 2023 12 31

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities

The movements during the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023 in the Group’s liabilities arising from 
financing activities are as follows:

Non-cash changes

   

At 
1 January 

2024
Net Cash 

Flow

Addition of 
property, 
plant and 

equipment
Exchange 

difference
Interest 

expenses

At 
31 December 

2024

2024
1 1

2024
12 31

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Year ended 31 December 2024 2024
 12 31

Interest-bearing borrowing 33,440 (33,440) – – – –

Lease liabilities 3,883 (1,547) 3,860 109 200 6,505
Loans from ultimate holding company 3,411 48,583 – – 355 52,349      

Total liabilities from financing activities 40,734 13,596 3,860 109 555 58,854
      

Non-cash changes

   

At 
1 January 

2023
Net Cash 

Flow

Addition of 
property, 
plant and 

equipment
Exchange 
difference

Interest 
expenses

At 
31 December 

2023

2023
1 1

2023
12 31

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Year ended 31 December 2023 2023
 12 31

Interest-bearing borrowing – 33,440 – – – 33,440
Lease liabilities – (416) 4,183 54 62 3,883
Loans from ultimate holding company – 3,411 – – – 3,411      

Total liabilities from financing activities – 36,435 4,183 54 62 40,734
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2024 2023 12 31

34 

2024 2023 12 31

35 

2024 2023 12 31

(a) 

1
30

33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any 
material contingent liabilities.

34 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 but not yet incurred is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Contracted but not provided for 73 193
  

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed 
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, further 
information of the related party transactions for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below.

(a) Holding entity

The ult imate holding company and control l ing 
shareholder are disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated 
financial statements. Details of the loans from the 
ultimate holding company is set out in Note 30 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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35  

(b) 

2024 2023 12 31

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

* 
A

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(b) Transaction with related parties

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated 
financial statements, the following transactions were 
carried out with related parties during the years ended 
31 December 2024 and 2023, at terms mutually agreed 
by both parties:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023
Nature of transaction    

Related companies (Note (i))
(i) Office rental payments*
  (Notes (ii) and (v))

(i)
(i) *
  (ii) (v) 1,547 598

(ii) Purchases of footwear products*
  (Notes (iii) and (v))

(ii) *
  (iii) (v) 99,997 34,847

(iii) Interest expenses*
  (Notes (iv) and (v))

(iii) *
  (iv) (v) 355 –

  

Notes:

(i) The family members of the directors have control and/or 
significant influence over the related companies.

(ii) Lease payments were charged in accordance with 
respective tenancy agreements.

(iii) Purchases were charged in accordance with the 
framework agreement.

(iv) Interest expenses were charged in accordance with 
respective loan agreements.

(v) The above transactions were charged based on the 
terms mutually agreed with the related parties and in the 
ordinary and usual course of business.

* These related party transactions also constitute connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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35  

(c) 

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(c) Key management compensation

Key management includes the executive directors of the 
Company who have the responsibility for the planning, 
directing, controlling and the execution of the activities 
of the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key 
management is shown below:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

    

Wages and salaries 2,139 1,695
Discretionary bonus 73 12
Pension costs – defined contribution plan 33 19  

2,245 1,726
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36  
 

2024 12 31

2025
3 28

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 
COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company at 31 
December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

2024 2023

     

Assets
Non-current asset
Interest in subsidiaries 186,371 186,371  

Current assets
Prepayments 219 242
Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) 111,368 65,757
Cash and cash equivalents 560 131  

112,147 66,130  

Total assets 298,518 252,501
  

Equity
Equity attributable to owners
 the Company
Share capital 23 10,511 10,511
Share premium 80,081 80,081
Reserves (a) 186,374 186,374
Accumulated losses (a) (31,833) (29,661)  

Total equity 245,133 247,305  

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accruals 1,036 1,085
Amounts due to subsidiaries (b) – 700
Loans from ultimate holding company 30 52,349 3,411  

Total liabilities 53,385 5,196  

Total equity and liabilities 298,518 252,501
  

The statement of financial position of the Company was 
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and 
was signed on its behalf by

Tsoi Wing Sing Tsoi Lam Ki 

Director Director
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(a) 

 

(b) 

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserves movement of the Company

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Total
reserve

(Note 24(a)) (Note)
24(a)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 80,081 186,374 (25,875) 240,580
Loss for the year – – (3,786) (3,786)    

Total comprehensive loss – – (3,786) (3,786)
    

At 31 December 2023 and
 1 January 2024

2023 12 31
 2024 1 1 80,081 186,374 (29,661) 236,794

    

Loss for the year – – (2,172) (2,172)    

Total comprehensive loss – – (2,172) (2,172)
    

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 80,081 186,374 (31,833) 234,622
    

Note: The capital reserve of the Company represents the 
aggregated net asset values of the subsidiaries acquired 
by the Company pursuant to the reorganisation in prior 
years.

(b) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, 
interest free and repayable on demand.
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37  

(a) 

(i) 2024 9 30

(ii) 2024 9 30

(iii) 2023 10 31

(iv) 2023 10 31

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 
DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director is set out below:

Name of director Fees Salaries
Discretionary

bonus

Allowances
benefits in

kind

Employer’s
contribution

to pension
scheme Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Executive directors
 Tsoi Wing Sing  109 1,186 – – 16 1,311
 Tsoi Lam Ki  109 528 73 – 16 726
 Larry Stuart Torchin  Larry Stuart Torchin 109 – – – – 109
 Lin Minqiang  – 97 – – – 97

Independent non-executive directors
 Mak Ming Hoi (Note i)  i 28 – – – – 28
 Chan Hoi Shan (Note ii)  ii 82 – – – – 82
 Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin  109 – – – – 109
 Chow Kit Ting  109 – – – – 109      

655 1,811 73 – 32 2,571
      

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Executive directors
 Tsoi Wing Sing  107 269 – – 3 379
 Tsoi Lam Ki (Note iii)  iii 18 83 12 – 3 116
 Jian Xuegen (Note iv)  iv 45 969 – – 13 1,027
 Larry Stuart Torchin  Larry Stuart Torchin 107 – – – – 107
 Lin Minqiang  – 97 – – – 97

Independent non-executive directors
 Chan Hoi Shan  107 – – – – 107
 Chiu Kwok Hung, Justin  107 – – – – 107
 Chow Kit Ting  107 – – – – 107      

598 1,418 12 – 19 2,047
      

Notes:

(i) Appointed on 30 September 2024

(ii) Resigned on 30 September 2024

(iii) Appointed on 31 October 2023

(iv) Resigned on 31 October 2023
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37  

(b)  

2024 2023 12 31

(c) 

2024 2023 12 31

(d) 

 

2024 2023 12 31
2024 2023 12 31

(e) 
 

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and 
termination benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments or 
benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services 
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the 
directors; nor are any payable.

(c) Consideration provided to third parties 
for making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
no consideration was provided to third parties for 
making available directors’ services.

(d) Information about loans, quasi- 
loans and other dealings in favour of 
directors, controlled bodies corporate 
by connected entities with such 
directors

At 31 December 2024 and 2023 and during the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no 
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements 
in favour of the directors of the Company, controlled 
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such 
the directors of the Company.

(e) Directors’ material interests in 
transactions, arrangements or 
contracts

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements 
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business 
to which the Company was a party and in which 
a director of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 
the reporting period or at any time during the reporting 
period.
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